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PROJECT INFORMATION

Permit Application: Not applicable
Permit Number: Not applicable

Permit Type: Not applicable

Location of Proposed Action:

The site of the proposed project, identified as Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy
Hollow, is a 94.5-acre property composed of three separate parcels, the West
Parcel containing 64.5+ acres, the East Parcel containing 28.3+ acres, and the
South Parcel containing 1.7+ acres. (Map 1 & 2 & Fig. 1) The East and West
Parcels are separated by the MetroNorth Railroad tracks, while the South Parcel,
containing a parking lot, is separated from the other two by Beekman Avenue.
The property is bounded on the north by Devries Park, on the east by Philipsburg
Manor and residential development, on the south by residential and commercial
development, and on the west by Kingsland Point Park and the Hudson River.
(See Fig. 2 & Photo 9 & 17) On the western edge of the West Parcel is the
Tarrytown Lighthouse, a landmark listed on the Westchester Inventory of Historic

lighthouseldgtia CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants



Stage 1A Literature Review & Sensitive Analysis

8%

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Places, as well as the State and National Registers of Historic Places. Access to
the lighthouse is by way of a bridge. (Photo 8) The lighthouse, built in 1882-
1883, formerly served as an aid to navigation and to guard river traffic from
dangerous shoals on the river’s east shore. The lighthouse was decommissioned
in 1965, and acquired by Westchester County in 1974. It is shown on the site map
to be the property of the United States government.

The project area is for all intents and purposes vacant, but it formerly was the site
of the General Motors Assembly plant. (See Map 1 & Fig. 2) The site contains
the remains of several large buildings identified on the base maps as the Body
Assembly Plant and the Chassis Assembly Plant. (Photo 2-6, 11 & 13) During the
walkover of the property, crawl spaces were observed beneath portions of the
former buildings. (See Photo 2) Surrounding the sites of the former buildings are
broad expanses of asphalt paving, that served as parking lots or drives providing
access to the property. (Photo 7 & 10)

With the exception of the South Parcel, now used as a parking lot, and a small
area in the extreme southeastern part of the West Parcel (site of 19" century Chas.
Smith Brickyards), the project area is entirely man-made land created by filling a
portion of the Hudson River identified on 18" century maps as “Die Slaeperingh
Haven”. (See Map 3 & 4) The filling, which has been extensive, took place from
the 1840s, at the time that the Hudson River Railroad was built, to the second half
of the 20" century.

The neighborhood in which the project area is situated is characterized by a retail
and commercial district that serves the local population, a number of residential
areas, including low-density single and multifamily housing, and a few mid-rise
residential buildings. Parks and open space are also present,, specifically
Kingsland Point Park (an 18-acre County owned and Village managed park that
includes woodland, riverfront, playing fields, picnic areas, a former boathouse,
and a former beach with a small boat launch area), Devries Park (an 18-acre
village park that is an active recreation area with baseball fields and a playground)
and Horan’s Landing (a 1-acre village park that has an open lawn with picnic
tables and a boat launch). In addition, there are historic structures adjacent to the
project area, including Philipsburg Manor Restoration and the Old Dutch Church
and Burying Ground.

Description of Conditions within the Project Area

As noted above, the West Parcel is the former site of the General Motors assembly
plant. The plant has been demolished, leaving the ground floors of the buildings,
beneath which there are crawl spaces. (Photo 2-6) The pattern of columns that
supported the roofs of the former structures is clearly seen on the aerial
photograph of the property. (See Fig. 2) At the time that the buildings were
demolished, the West Parcel was almost completely covered by the various
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buildings associated with the General Motors facility. The balance of the West
Parcel is asphalt drives that provides access to the various parts of the site. (Photo
7 & 10) The East Parcel, which is separated from the West Parcel by the
MetroNorth tracks, is an asphalt expanse that was used as a parking area for the
plant. (Photo 18) A pedestrian bridge over the railroad provided access between
the East and West Parcels. (Photo 14) The South Parcel, separated from the West
and East Parcels by Beekman Avenue, 1s also a parking lot. (Photo 19)

On the aerial photograph (Fig. 2) several areas around the project arca are
identified, including Kingsland Point Park, Devries Park, and Philipsburg Manor
Restoration. The millpond and dam at the Philipsburg Manor are visible, as is the
Pocantico River. The location of the Pocantico River is of particular importance
to an understanding of the current conditions within the project area, since, until
the construction of the railroad in the early 19" century, the Hudson River
shoreline extended east of the present MetroNorth Railroad tracks almost to the
foot of the dam at the Philipsburg Manor mill. At that time the Pocantico River
flowed over the dam at the Philipsburg Manor mill directly into the Hudson River,
(See Map 3 & 4) The construction of the railroad in the 19" century (prior to
1848) cut the East Parcel off from the river, and the area gradually filled,
becoming over time marshland. The Pocantico River was channelized and
diverted under the railroad embankment, so that it no longer entered the Hudson
River from the west, but from the north. (See Map 5 & 8) This condition
continued until between 1924 and 1931, when the expansion of the General
Motors plant again cut off the river channel. Map 17 in this report shows dotted
lines to indicate the location of the former channel of the Pocantico River. (See
Map 17) At that time the Pocantico River was again relocated, so that is now
flows into the Hudson north of Devries Park. (See Map 2)

Description of Undertaking:

The proposed action involves the redevelopment of the 94.5-acre former General
Motors automotive assembly plant site location in the southwestern corner of the
Village. The proposed development is a mixed-use waterfront project. The FEIS
Alternative Plan consists of approximately 1,250 residential units, 114,000 SF of
retail space, an 18,000 SF cinema, 35,000 SF of office space, a 140-room hotel, a
proposed train station, and associated parking, with areas of publicly accessible
open space.

Estimated Size of Impact Area:

For the purposes of the Stage 1 A report it is assumed that the entire property will
be impacted by the proposed project.
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Description of Impact:

B.

Again, it is assumed that the entire property will be impacted by the proposed
redevelopment of the project area. Portions of the structures currently located on
the site will be removed, along with asphalt paving on the West Parcel, and the
asphalt parking areas in the East and South Parcels.

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION

Topography:

With the exception of the South Parcel, the topography of the property is level,
with the elevation along the waterfront being approximately 5 feet above mean sea
level (AMSL). Map research indicates that, with the exception of the South
Parcel and the extreme southeastern portion of the West Parcel (location of 19"
century brickyard), the entire project area is man-made land dating from the 1840s
through the second half of the 20™ century. To the east of the MetroNorth
Railroad tracks the land identified as the East Parcel is essentially flat; however,
immediately to the east the land rises sharply to the level of Barnhart Avenue.

The change in elevation generally corresponds with the former shoreline. At the
north end of the East Parcel there is an area that dips slightly. It appears that this
area is associated with the relocation of the Pocantico River.

Geology:

Soils:

Research indicates that, with the exception of the South Parcel and the extreme
southeast portion of the West Parcel, the entire project area is man-made land.
However, looking at the broader picture, the site is geologically part of the
Hudson Highlands (Manhattan formation). The land to the east is associated with
the Taconic Orogeny, in which material from the east was thrust up over the local
bedrock. Originally the mountains created during the Taconic Orogeny are
believed to have been taller than the Alps, but weathering, erosion and the action
of glaciers has reduced them to their present state. The basic rock groups found in
the area are granite and schist. The steeper portions of the Village of Sleepy
Hollow have substantial bedrock outcrops of granite, schist and gneiss typical of
the formations seen along the ridge immediately east of the project area.

Soils on the property are identified as Urban land (Uf). As reported in the Soif
Survey of Putnam and Westchester Counties, New York, the unit is identified as
being 60% covered by buildings or other structures. The areas described as Urban
land (Uf) include parking lots, shopping centers, industrial parks, and institutional
sites. Slopes range from 0 to 8%. Portions of the land that are not covered by
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buildings may be unaltered, and contain soils such as Riverhead, Chatfield, Sutton
and Unadilla. Disturbed areas consist of Udorthents. ‘In this particular case, an
examination of the project area, supported by the historic maps, indicates that,
with the exception of the South Parcel and a small area in the southeastern part of

the West Parcel, the land on which the project area is located is entirely man-made
land.

Drainage:

Drainage from the site is into the Hudson River. Formerly, those portions of the
site that were fast land (i.e., part of the prehistoric land form and not man-made)
would have drained into either the Pocantico River or “Die Slacperingh Haven”,
which was an embayment that opened into the Hudson River, but the relocation of
the Pocantico River and the filling of “Die Slaeperingh Haven™ has altered this
relationship. Details of the relocation will be discussed below. The Soil Survey of
Putnam and Westchester Counties, New York indicates the present location of the
Pocantico River. The former location of the river can be seen on several of the
historic maps included in this report. (See Map 17)

Vegetation:

With the exception of the vegetation located at the boundaries of the site along
Kingsland Point Park and the eastern and northeastern portions of the project area,
no significant vegetation is located on the site. Deciduous trees grow along the
western border of the site adjacent to the Kingsland Point Park roadway. In
general, the vegetation that would be expected in this area is associated with the
Upland Deciduous Forest, including Sugar maple, Black and Red oak, White ash,
American beech, Black walnut, and hemlock.

Forest Zone:

The project area lies within the Northern Hardwood Forest zone. Sugar maple,
birch, beech and hemlock are the predominant trees in this type of forest.

Man-made Features and Alterations:

Maps dating to the early and late 18" century indicate that, with the exception of
the South Parcel and a small area in the southeastern corner of the West Parcel,
the entire area on which the General Motors site is located was part of an
embayment east of Kingsland Point. (See Map 3 & 4)- This part of the river was
identified on the 18" century maps as “Die Slaeperingh Haven” or alternatively as
“Die Slapering Haven”. In the 18" century the Pocantico River flowed directly
from the Philipsburg Manor millpond into “Die Slaeperingh Haven”, and the
Continental Road, which ran from the Albany Post Road to the waterfront,
provided access to Martling’s or Van Vorts Dock. The dock extended into open
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water, but access to it would have been from land that is now part of the West
Parcel. ‘

The construction of the railroad in the 1840s was the first significant episode of
filling to affect the General Motors site. (See Map 5) The embankment on which
the roadbed of the Hudson River Railroad (now MetroNorth) was laid cut off the
mouth of the Pocantico River and divided the bay into which it flowed. As early
as 1848 the area east of the railroad was gradually filling with sediment, becoming
marshland. (See Map 5) The encroachment of the marshland can be seen in a
painting of Philipsburg Manor, Upper Mills that dates to ¢.1850. (See Fig. 10).
Map research indicates that in the ot century, with the exception of a ditch dug
to drain the southern past of the marsh, no man-made structures were located on
the East Parcel. (See Map 8) The filling of the East Parcel to create land for use
for proposed athletic fields and parking areas was contemplated, according to the
Westchester County Parks Commission Reports, as early as 1927 (Westchester
Parks Commission Report 1928: 21 hereafter referred to as WCPC Report). The
pedestrian bridge that crosses the railroad between Devries Park and Kingsland
Point Park was built to provide access between the facilities planned for the East
Parcel and Kingsland Point Park itself. The extreme southeast part of the West
Parcel was at that time the site of the Charles (Chas.) Smith Brick Yards. (See
Map 7-9) As part of the brickmaking operation, the clay bank along the river's
edge was mined. Historic maps indicate that it was during this time period that
the filling of the river in this area began. In the 19™ century the South Parcel was
the site of a dwelling and stable. (See Map 10) In the 20" century the South
Parcel was regraded to create the parking lot.

In the late 19" and early 20" century the filling of the land adjacent to the
brickyard continued. Rand Drill Company, which purchased the site in 1885,
expanded the land it occupied to the north and west, as did the Maxwell Briscoe
Company Automobile Works. (See Map 11-12 & 15) The original General
Motors plant occupied the same location as the Maxwell Briscoe Company
Automobile Works, but over time the shoreline was filled to increase the amount
of land available for the plant; however, it was not until the mid-1960’s that the
current configuration was achieved. An aerial photograph from 1957 indicates the
extent of the filling operation that had taken place. (Fig. 7) At the time, the
shoreline was essentially a straight line along the West Parcel south of Kingsland
Point Park with the Tarrytown Lighthouse still some distance off-shore. (See Fig.
7) In 1957, the East Parcel, which, by this time, appears to have been finally filled
and graded, but was not yet covered with asphalt, was the location of a baseball
diamond and, perhaps, other athletic facilities. No buildings were associated with
these facilities.

The aerial photograph taken in 1963 shows the extent of the filling that had taken
place to create land for the expanded plant. (See Fig. 8) According to material
published by the General Motors Corporation, between 1957 and the completion
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of the project (c. 1963), 26 acres of marshland east of the railroad and 16 acres of
the river itself were filled with sand that was pumped from the river’s bottom to
create space for the expansion of the plant (GMC 1996:69). The 1963 aerial
photograph shows the land east of the railroad was now being used as a parking
lot and that the pedestrian bridge that connected the East Parcel with the main
plant had been constructed.

The examination of the historic maps and more recent aerial photographs show
that the shoreline of the Hudson River has been radically altered during the last
200 years. {See maps defining historic shoreline in FEIS Section IL.E) Various
episodes of filling, beginning in the mid-1 oh century {(c. 1840), extended the land
hundreds of feet north and westward into “Die Slaeperingh Haven” and the
Hudson River. With the exception of a small portion of the southeastern portion
of the West Parcel, formerly the location of the Martling’s or Van Vorts Dock and
later the Chas. Smith Brick Yard (See Map 4, 7, 9-10), all of the land west of the
railroad is man-made land. The small portion of land that was not man-made
would, however, have been impacted by the brickyard activities, which included
the intenstve mining of the clay bank. This would have destroyed its potential to
contain either prehistoric or 18" or early 19" century historic resources (i.e.,
evidence of Martling’s or Van Vorts Docks or the dwelling house associated with
the brickyard). (See Map 3-4 & 7) i

With respect to the South Parcel, grading to create the present parking lot would
have impacted any resources that might have been present. In the 19" century, the
South Parcel contained a dwelling and outbuildings (See Map 7, 9-12), but,
according to the map research, by 1911 these had been removed. (See Map 15)

The East Parcel was formerly part of the embayment identified on the 1725 and
1780 map as “Die Slaeperingh Haven” (alternatively “Die Slapering Haven®) that
was east of Kingsland Point into which the Pocantico River flowed. “Die
Slaeperingh Haven” extended eastward as far as the foot of the Philipsburg Manor
mill dam. (See Map 3 & 4 & FEIS Section ILE) In the late 17" and 18" centuries
it was possible for a sloop to sail directly up to the dock at the rear of the mill
building, but, based on the painting of Philipsburg Manor, Upper Mills ¢. 1850
(See Fig. 10), the silting in of the embayment east of the railroad (built in the
1840s) was already taking place. The construction of the railroad had cut off the
east end of the bay from the river, preventing it from being scoured by the tides.
(See Map 5) It also caused the relocation of the channel of the Pocantico River,
first to the north side of Kingsland Point Park, and later to an area north of
Devries Park. (See Map 9 & 2} Along its eastern boundary, the East Parcel
conforms to the base of the alluvial bench on which the Village of Sleepy Hollow
is located. Until the construction of the railroad, the river extended to the foot of
the bluff. In the 19" and early 20" century there were several dwellings and
outbuildings located at the top of the embankment, but there is no evidence of any
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historic structures from any time period at the foot of the bluff, which is now
identified as the East Parcel.

The filling of the land on which the General Motors plant and parking fields was
located took place over approximately 130 years. The changes to the shoreline are
illustrated in the FEIS, Section ILE. The descriptions and dates of the filling
episodes have been outlined above and are discussed in more detail below, but the
stages of the filling are reported here:

lighthouseldgla

18™ Century Conditions

Prehistorically Kingsland Point Park protected an embayment of the
Hudson River that is identified on 18" century, maps as “Die Slaeperingh
Haven” (1725) or, alternatively, as “Die Slapering Haven” (1780). Based
on these two maps, the Pocantico River flowed into the Philipsburg Manor
millpond, over the dam and, for all intents and purposes, directly into “Die
Slaeperingh Haven.” The placement of the dam was determined, in large
part, by the ". .. natural topography near the mouth of the Pocantico
[which] featured a rock shelf that could serve as the location for such a
dam, behind which the waters of the Pocantico could be stored in a pond
created where a meadow had been (Vetare 2004:21). According to Vetare,
the river bed below the dam was dug out or deepened to allow ships to
berth at the 40-foot long wharf below the mill (Vetare 2004:21 & 33). The
fact that ships were able to sail directly up to the dock, where the flour
from the Philipsburg Manor mill would have been loaded on ships for
transport to New York City or overseas, is a strong indicator that no docks
associated with the Upper Mills were located at the mouth of the
Pocantico or at any other location along the “Die Slaeperingh Haven”
shoreline.

The 18" century maps show the location of Martling’s or Van Vort’s Dock
at the foot of the Continental Road, which generally corresponds with
Beekman Avenue, so named after 1847 when Cornelia Van Cortlandt
Beekman subdivided part of the Upper Mill property. Portions of the
subdivided lands are included in the hamlet known as Beekmantown (See
Map 18), now called Sleepy Hollow. The 1780 map indicates that the
approach to Martling's or Van Vort's Dock was across a marshy area at the
foot of a steep embankment that would later become the location of the
Smith brickyards (on the southeastern corner of the West Parcel).

The situation in the 18" century was that the South Parcel and the
southeastern corner of the West Parcel were fast land, being the historic
land surface, rather than man-made or filled land. The balance of the
General Motors site, including the entire East Parcel, was then open water.

CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants



Stage 1A Literature Review & Sensitive Analysis 9

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

lighthouseldgla

19" Century Conditions

Until the construction of the Hudson River Railroad in the second quarter
of the 19th century, the conditions were the same as they had been in the
17" and 18" century. However, with the construction of the railroad the
eastern side of “Die Slaeperingh Haven,” which was cut off from the river
and its scouring tides, quickly began to fill with silt from the Pocantico
River. By 1848 the area on the east side of the railroad was identified as
“Marsh.” (See Map 5) The marshy condition of the area is confirmed by
the c. 1850 painting of Philipsburg Manor, Upper Mills. (See Fig. 10)
The Pocantico River, which appears to have been channelized, flowed
through the marsh and beneath the railroad into the western part of “Die
Slaeperingh Haven.” The West Parcel was then entirely open water,
except for, as noted above, the extreme southeastern corner. The South
Parcel, where a house and outbuilding was located, was much as it is
today, a high bluff overlooking the river.

By the second half of the 19" century filling to create a larger area for
industrial development had begun on the West Parcel. Charles Smith,
whose house was located on the north side of Beekman Street (now
Beekman Avenue), established a brickyard by 1862, and perhaps earlier.
(See Map 7) The brickyard probably mined clay from the steep
embankment seen on the 1780 map to make brick that may have been used
locally or was shipped, as flour and provisions had been earlier, to New
York City. Brickmaking, some of which was done on a small scale, was
an important industry in the Hudson Valley from the mid-19" century until
the last brickyards closed in the 1980s (Hutton 2003). Maps indicate that
as the brickyard expanded, the land occupied by the brickyard also
expanded, as the shoreline was extended to the north and west into the
river to create more area for the brick machines and kiln sheds. (See Map
10) Later expansion continued under the ownership of the Rand Drill
Company. (See Map 7 & 9-11) However, despite these incursions, the
majority of the West Parcel remained open water throughout the 19™
century.

During this same period, a narrow strip of land on the west side of the
railroad was filled to provide access to the south side of the Pocantico
River’s mouth and the southeast edge of Kingsland Point Park, then a
private estate owned by James Brown, who in 1856 had sold it to A. C.
Kingsland. One of the historic maps indicates that the Pocantico River
was crossed at this point by a bridge. (See Map 8) The South Parcel was
occupied by a dwelling and outbuildings owned by S. Emberson. The East
Parcel remained marshland. '

20" Century Conditions

The first quarter of the 20" century saw additional filling by The Mobile
Company of American, an early automobile manufacturer, and the
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Maxwell Briscoe Company, which manufactured the Maxwell automobile.
Despite the expansion of the land on which the manufacturing plant was
located, much of the area occupied by the General Motors plant was still
open water. An examination of the 1902 and 1908 maps of the area shows
the distance of the Tarrytown lighthouse from the shore; the lighthouse is
connected to the General Motors site by a short bridge. (See Map 13 & 14)

In 1924, when the Chevrolet Motor Company built Plant No. 1 on the east
side of Kingsland Point, water on the east side of the point was filled to
provide the foundation for the building, but open water remained between
it and the buildings identified as Plant No. 2. (See Fig. 5) In 1931, when
the plant was reconfigured, as frequently happens with automobile
manufacturing facilities, the open water between Plant No. 1 and Plant No.
2 was filled. (See Map 17 & Fig. 6) Further expansion would take place,
as the land was filied westward, until the edge of the General Motors site
almost touched the Tarrytown Lighthouse. (See Fig. 7 & 8)

Early in the 20" century, the Emberson house and outbuildings were
removed from the South Parcel, and the area was graded to be, as it is
now, a parking lot. (See Map 15)

The East Parcel, based on the map research and aerial photographs,
appears to have remained marsh until the 1950s. However, information
provided in the DEIS (Section 111.B) indicates that the land on both sides
of the railroad was created in a series of at least 12 discrete filling events,
beginning in the 1920s, that transformed portions of the Hudson River and
Pocantico River into upland. The Westchester County Parks Commission
Report of 1928 mentions that "The reclamation of the large marshy area of
Kingsland Point Park east of the New York Central Railroad and the
development of a lake, athletic field and parking space are in progress "
(WCPC Report 1928:21). The contract for that work had been let in 1927
(WCPC Report 1928:64). The following year a contract was awarded to
construct a pedestrian bridge over the railroad tracks that would provide
access between the parking area and Kingsland Point Park itself (WCPC
Report 1928:64). The fill 1s reported to have consisted largely of coal
cinders, various soil and aggregate mixtures, dredge spoils and, as was
often the case, construction demolition debris, ash and furnace slag. The
East Parcel portion was subsequently graded and used as playing fields
and, perhaps, parking, though a comparison of the aerial photographs from
1925 and 1933 do not indicate that parking areas had actually been built on
the East Parcel. It is possible that the stock market crash of 1929
prevented the plans for the East Parcel from being fully implemented.

In the early 1960s General Motors purchased the site of the playing fields,
paved the area, and used it to park and transfer cars. At the present time
the southern portion of the East Parcel is used by the Village of Sleepy
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Hollow Department of Public Works for vehicle storage and maintenance.
(See Fig. 7 & 8)

With respect to the Pocantico River, its course had been altered in the 19"
century, when it was redirected to enter the Hudson River from the north,
rather than from the east. In the 20" century, the mouth of the river and
the embayment east of the railroad, which had filled with silt after the
construction of the railroad, was, as the result of the further development
of the General Motors complex, realigned to enter the Hudson River north
of Devries Park.

C. DOCUMENTARY RESEARCH

1. Site Files

a, New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation
(OPRHP)

Research undertaken at the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and
Historic Preservation (OPRHP) indicate that the Tarrytown Lighthouse, a
landmark that is listed on the State and National Registers, is adjacent to the
project area, being connected to it by a bridge. (See Photo 8) The Tarrytown
Lighthouse is also listed on the Westchester Inventory of Historic Places.

State and National Registers of Historic Places

A number of National Register (NR) sites exist within a mile of the proposed
project area. The information presented below includes material from the Village
of Sleepy Hollow Local Waterfront Revitalization Program 1997. The sites
include:

TABLE 1

Historic Resources on the State and National Registers of Historic Places

Dutch Reform Church Built in the 1680’s by Frederick Philipse, wealthy Dutch settler

of Sleepy Hollow with extensive landholdings along Hudson River, including
Route 9, north of Philipsburg Manor. Congregation organized in 1697, when
Pocantico River services were conducted in Dutch. Steeple bell that hangs in

belfry was cast in Amsterdam in 1685. The Dutch Reform
Church of Sleepy Hollow is one of the oldest churches in
continuous use in the United States. According to Shaver, the
Dutch Reform Church of Sleepy Hollow was listed on the
National Register in 1961 (Shaver 1993:179). The church is
described as a 1-story stone church with gambrel roof and
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octagonal belfry, built ¢. 1697 for proprietors and tenants of
Philipsburg Manor. It achieved fame as Sleepy Hollow Church in
Washington Irving’s Legend of Sleepy Hollow. The building is
also included on State Register and the Westchester Inventory of
Historic Places.

Old Dutch Burying
Ground Cemetery

adjacent to Dutch Reform
Church

Cemetery associated with Dutch Reform Church, one of
America’s oldest cemeteries. Adjacent to Dutch Reform Church,
the gravestones are some of earliest and most enduring examples
of American folk art. Burials may be as early as 1645 or as late as
1700. Early markers disappeared, having been made of materials
such as wood that rapidly decayed. Cemetery also contains
neoclassical monuments and mausoleums, as well as sandstone
markers from Colonial period. The burying ground is a reflection
of the history of the Village of Sleepy Hollow and the changing
aesthetic and religious values of the nation as a whole, The Old
Dutch Burying Ground was listed on the State and National
Registers of Historic Places in 1961 (Shaver 1993:176) and on the
Westchester Inventory of Historic Places in 1988.

Philipsburg Manor and
Upper Mills

Route 9, south of
Pocantico River

Located on U.S. Route 9 (North Broadway) in the Village of
Sleepy Hollow, the facility is an 18th century trading center of the
Philipse family, with Dutch style manor house, restored gristmiil
and Dutch-style barn. The original owner was Frederick Philipse,
who came to American from Holland in 1653 as a carpenter, and
became one of the wealthiest men in the new colony. Stone
manor house has rich collection of New York and European
decorative arts, The property is open for tours and
demonstrations as a living museum, being visited by
approximately 40,000 to 50,000 people a year. It is owned and
operated by Historic Hudson Valley, which also owns Sunnyside,
Washington Irving’s home, and Kykuit, home of the Rockefeller
family. The property was listed on the State and National
Registers in 1961, and on the Westchester Inventory of Historic
Places in 1988.

Tarrytown Lighthouse
Kingsland Point

Tarrytown Lighthouse is located in the Hudson River, 100 feet
west of the General Motors Assembly Plant site. The lighthouse
was built in 1882-83 to provide navigational aid to shipping on
Hudson River and to guard river traffic from dangerous shoal
water on river’s eastern shore. It is a conical steel structure, part
of a thematic group listed on the State and National Registers in
1979 (Shaver 1993:179). It is the only family station in the lower
Hudson and the only lighthouse in Westchester County. At the
time it was built, river traffic was at its peak, and the shoals off
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Tarrytown represented a significant hazard. The Tarrytown
Lighthouse was unaltered, except for repairs and updating, for
over 100 years. The beacon was automated in 1957 after the
construction of the Tappan Zee Bridge made the lighthouse
keeper unnecessary. In 1959 the federal government declared all
but 100 feet around the lighthouse surplus land, which was sold to
General Motors to facilitate the expansion of the General Motors
Assembly Plant. The light was deactivated in 1961 and the house
decommissioned 1965. In the early 1970’s, an easement from
General Motors allowed Westchester County to build a walkway
to the Lighthouse from Kingsland Point Park. In 1974
Westchester County acquired the Tarrytown Lighthouse. The
Tarrytown Lighthouse is listed on the State and National
Registers, as well as on the Westchester Inventory of Historic
Places (1988).

Philipse Manor Railroad
Station (Hudson Valley
Writer’s Center)
Riverside Drive

Located on Riverside Drive, the Philipse Manor Railroad Station
was built in 1919. The station contains one of the cast iron eagles
that once adorned the original Grand Central Station in New York
City. Originally the building was quite artistic, with a majestic
fireplace, dark paneling and oriental rugs. Initially, 25 passenger
trains a day stopped at the station. In the 1970°s AMTRAK
stopped using the smaller stations on the Hudson River line, Left
empty, vandals attacked the building, and in 1977 a reclamation
effort was undertaken. Currently owned by Metro North
Commuter Railroad, the building is leased to the Hudson River
Valley Writer’s Center. Recently, the station was renovated for
passive cultural types of use, using an Inter-modal Surface
Transportation Efficiency Act (ISTEA) Enhancement Grant from
the NYS Department of Transportation. The property is listed on
the State and National Registers of Historic Places (1991) and on
the Westchester Inventory of Historic Places (1991).

Old Croton Aqueduct
(Old Croton Trailway
State Park)

The Old Croton Aqueduct runs north-south through the Village of
Sleepy Hollow. The Croton Aqueduct was first successful public
water supply for New York. Construction began on the enclosed
aqueduct in 1837, with the first water flowing into the system in
1842; construction was completed in 1848. The Croton water
system, including the Croton Reservoir and Aqueduct, was one of
the most notable public works projects of the 19" century.
Although the Agueduct soon became inadequate to handle New
York City’s growing need for water, it continued in use until
1955. All of the above ground facilities, including the masonry
conduit, ventilation shafts, gatehouses, viaducts, culverts and
maintenance buildings, were listed on the State and National
Registers of Historic Places in 1974 as a National Historic
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Landmark based on their historic, technological, and architectural
features (Shaver 1993:184). The land above the Old Croton
Aqueduct is owned by New York State and is managed by the
Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation (OPRHP)
as a historic trailway for public use.

James House

(James Phelps Memorial
Hospital Center)

Route 9 northwest corner
of Village

Located on grounds of the James Phelps Memorial Hospital
Center. Built in 1850 in an Italianate style, the house is now used
for hospital related fundraising events and other activities. The
designated historic site includes historic stone walls, specimen
trees, and an unobstructed view of the Hudson River and the
Palisades. The house and its setting are listed on State and
National Registers and on the Westchester County Inventory of
Historic Places (1988).

Pokahoe
(Fremont House)
7 Pokahoe Drive

Built in 1850 for James Watson Webb, diplomat and journalist,
the house, in the Gothic Revival Style, was built from site-
quarried granite. The property includes a section of the old New
York Central Railroad line. Webb, owner of the New York
Morning Courier and Inguirer, was also Ambassador to Brazil,
negotiating the withdrawal of the French from Mexico in 1867.
Ambrose C. Kingsland, a mayor of New York City, and owner of
the land now included in Kingsland Point Park, once owned the
property. The principal historic significance is the association
with General John Charles Fremont, “The Pathfinder”, who, with
his wife, Jessiec Benton Fremont, owned Pokahoe from 1865 to
1872. Fremont, with Kit Carson as his guide, led pioneers west
along a route that became known as the Santa Fe Trail. He later
served as Governor of California and the first (unsuccessful)
Republican candidate for President of the United States. The
property is listed on State and National Registers and on the
Westchester Inventory of Historic Places (1989).

Patriots Park
Broadway (Route 9)

The park, designated as an arboretum for native and estate
ornamental trees of the Hudson River Valley, is within the
Villages of Sleepy Hollow and Tarrytown, the boundary being
Andres Brook. It is the location of a monument to the men who
captured Major John Andre, a British spy. Andre was carrying
information from Major General Benedict Arnold betraying the
American Revolutionary cause to the British. The park is listed
on State and National Registers of Historic Places. [t was listed
on the Westchester County Inventory of Historic Places in 1988.

Kykuit

(John D. Rockefelier
Estate)

Pocantico Hills section of

The name Kykuit comes from the Dutch word for “Lookout.”
The house, built by John D. Rockefeller, was the principal
residence of John D. and Nelson Rockefeller from 1913 to 1979.
The house, in a massive Georgian Revival style, was designed by
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Sleepy Hollow off

Bedford Road formal and informal gardens on the 250-acre estates were

designed by William Welles Bosworth; the Japanese garden by
Uyesa & Takahashi (1908-09). Bosworth also designed the
Orangerie (1907), carriage house, and stables, which were
enlarged as a garage in 1915. Kykuit is managed by Historic

sculptures collected by Nelson Rockefeller and an extensive art
collection. The property was listed on the State and National
Registers of Historic Places in 1976 (Shaver 1993:178)

In addition to the properties included on the State and National Register of
Historic Places, there are several properties that are of local importance, both to
the Village of Sleepy Hollow and the region. Among these are:

Kingsland Point Park, named for Ambrose C. Kingsland, shipping magnate
and mayor of New York City (1851-53), is adjacent to the General Motors
property. In 19t century, it was the location of the home of James Brown,
who sold it in 1856 to A. C. Kingsland, whose family donated the property to
Village of Tarrytown in 1898. (See Map 8) In 1871, the property had a main
house, reached by a circuitous carriage drive, a garden, a beach house, on the
south side of the point, a bridge from the north side of the point across the
mouth of the Pocantico River, and a series of buildings that cannot be
identified from the map. The entire property appears to have been protected
from the tides in the river by a wall. A bath house, built in 1926, is located in
Kingsland Point Park. The bath house is built on two levels, with a tunnel
under the park drive providing access to a beach on the Hudson River.
Neither the park nor the bath house is listed on the National or State Registers
of Historic Places, nor on the Westchester County Inventory of Historic
Places. (Photo 23-30)

Kingsland Point Park Pedestrian Bridge, built in 1928-29, to provide
access from the east side of the New York Central Railroad tracks to
Kingsland Point Park and the newly constructed bath house (completed in
1927) and beach (completed in 1928). The Annual Reports of the Westchester
County Park Commission indicate that the Pedestrian Bridge, a steel truss
bridge, was specifically built to provide a "more convenient approach" from
the proposed parking area east of the railroad. The 1928 report concluded that
the parking area and pedestrian bridge would make the ". . . entire Kingsland
Point Park area available for picnic and shore promenade purposes free from
the intrusion of motor traffic (WCPC Report 1928:21). The Kingsland Point
Park Pedestrian Bridge was closed by the county in 1986. Materials provided
to the consultant suggest that the bridge may have been included in a Historic
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Bridge Inventory (Mead & Hunt for NYS DOT, January 2002), but it is
unclear that a determination concerning National Register eligibility was
made. The New York State Department of Transportation inspected the
bridge on April 13, 2000. Based on the Bridge Inspection Report, it was
found to be in reasonably good condition, but it was concluded that its
"historic significance is not determinable at this time" (Personal
communication, Ellen Zinni, 9-29-05).

e Sleepy Hollow, used as backdrop to Washington Irving’s famous story of the
“Headless Horseman.” Name derived from Dutch “Slaeperingh Haven™
which appears on a 1725 map of area. (See Map 3)

s Sleepy Hollow Bridge, carrying Route 9 across Pocantico River at
Philipsburg Manor, is bridge across which the Headless Horseman rode.

¢ Fremont Fountain is a natural spring adjacent to the Sleepy Hollow
Cemetery that is dedicated to the memory of J. C. “The Pathfinder” Fremont
by William Rockefeller.

e Kidds Rock, which, according to legend, was where Frederick Philipse met
and bargained with Captain Kidd, who sailed Hudson in pursuit of “hon
money.”

None of the sites mentioned above will be impacted by the proposed project.
National Register eligible listing

No structures identified as National Register eligible, but not yet included in the
National Register of Historic Places, were identified on or immediately adjacent
to the project area. A question has been raised concerning the eligibility of the
Kingsland Point Park Pedestrian Bridge for listing on the National Register of
Historic Places. Based on information provided by the New York State
Department of Transportation, it appears that an inspection of the bridge was
made on April 13, 2000, but it was the conclusion of the Department of
Transportation that the "historic significance [of the Kingsland Point Park
Pedestrian Bridge] is not determinable at this time" (Personal communication,
Ellen Zinni, 9-29-05). The New York State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO)
website (www.nysparks.state.ny.us/shpo) was accessed in an effort to determine
whether the pedestrian bridge had been listed on the National Register of Historic
Places. It appears that it has not been so designated. Based on the criteria
outlined in the 1999 Contextual Study of New York State's Pre-1961 Bridges
(Prepared for the New York State Department of Transportation) it does not
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appear that the Kingsland Point Park Pedestrian Bridge meets the criteria for such
listing (Mead & Hunt 1999:2-3). We are informed that the New York State
Thruway Authority has requested the State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO)
to determine the Tappan Zee Bridge eligible for listing on the National Register of
Historic Places, but the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic
Preservation (OPRHP), acting on behalf of the SHPO, has not yet taken action on
this request.

State/National Register proposed

With the exception of the Tappan Zee Bridge, as noted above, no structures
currently under consideration for the State and National Registers are known to be
located adjacent to the project area.

Relationship of the Project Area to the Tappan Zee East Scenic District and
the Hudson River Valley National Heritage Area

Tappan Zee East Scenic Distriet

In 1992, an application for the Tappan Zee East Scenic District was made to the
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) by the
Village of Sleepy Hollow and a number of surrounding communities under the
provisions and authority of Article 49 of the NYS Environmental Conservation
Law, which authorizes the DEC to designate scenic areas in the State. The
legislation states that areas so designated must contain positive aesthetic elements
of regional, statewide, or national significance, and must have aesthetically
recognizable boundaries. The Tappan Zee East Scenic District was designated by
the Commissioner of DEC in the Fall of 1994. The District includes the Villages
of Sleepy Hollow, Tarrytown, Irvington, Dobbs Ferry, and Hasting-on-Hudson;
and the Towns of Mount Pleasant and Greenburgh. (See Fig. 3 & Photo 11)

Hudson River Valley National Heritage Area

In 1996, the Congress established the Hudson River Valley National Heritage
Area to “recognize, preserve, protect and interpret the nationally significant
history and resources of the valley” (www.hudsonvalleyheritagearea.com/
about2.php). The valley and its communities are further described as having
“played an important role in the military history of the American Revolution;
witnessed the development of iron, textile, rope and wire industries in the 19"
century; gave birth to important movements in American art and architecture; and
were home to some of America’s most prominent individuals and families” The
project area is, by virtue of its location, within the Hudson River Valley National
Heritage Area. The redevelopment of the project area as a mixed use
development with publicly accessible open space will improve the integration of
the former General Motors plant site and the Tarrytown Lighthouse, which is
adjacent to it, into the larger community.
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OPRHP and New York State Museum Archaeological Sites

As part of the investigation, information concerning known archaeological sites in
the vicinity of the project area was obtained from OPRHP. Information was also
obtained from the Prehistoric Site Files of the New York State Museum (NYSM),

which are now housed at OPRHP. No sites were reported within the boundaries
of the project area, but several sites are reported within the boundaries of the
Village of Sleepy Hollow and its environs, including a village site, camp sites,
fortifications and “traces of occupation” (Parker 1922). The location of the
Village of Alipconck is noted in the archaeological literature, but its precise
location, despite the OPRHP description below, remains a matter of debate.
However, the fact that the majority of the land within the project area is man-
made land eliminates all but the extreme southern portion of the General Motors
property as the potential site of the village. If, by some chance, the village had
been located on the southeastern and southern portion of the property, it would
have been destroyed, either by the activities associated with the brickyard in the
19™ century, which extensively mined the clay bank, or by the episodes of
disturbance that impacted the South Parcel (i.e., construction of house and
outbuildings and their demolition, and the grading required to create the parking
lot). Given that this is the case, none of the reported sites will be impacted by the

proposed project.

The OPRHP sites are listed below.

TABLE 2

OPRHP Sites in Vicinity of Project Area

OPRHP Site

Site Name (if any) & Discussion

A119-50-0050

Village of Alipconck (various spellings} at mouth of
Pocantico River in Village of Tarrytown. Note: Although
description might place village within boundaries of the
project area, the actual site of the village is a matter of
dispute. Some sources report it was at mouth of Pocantico
River, while others ciaim that it was on the Marymount
campus or east of the Irving Boat Club on the Hudson River.
Assuming for the moment that village site was within project
area, it would have been destroyed by activities associated
with 19" century brickyard, which mined clay on the site
with no regard for prehistoric resources, or by episodes of
disturbance reported for the South Parcel, which included
construction of house and outbuildings, their demolition, and
grading required to create the parking lot.

A119-60-0014

Prehistoric site on east side of Gory Brook approximately 1
mile northeast of project area.
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OPRHP Site

Site Name (if any) & Discussion

A119-60-0015

mile northeast of project area.

Prehistoric site on east side of Gory Brook approximately 1

A119-60-0018

miles northeast of project area.

Prehistoric site on east side of Gory Brook approximately 1%

The New York State Museum sites, which overlap to some degree with the
OPRIP list, are as follows:

TABLE 3

New York State Museum Site in Vicinity of Project Area

NYSM Site
Number

Site Name (if any),Site Type & Cultural
Affiliation & Potential Impact

Reporter

NYSM 5185

Described as mounds or fortification. Location:

NW of Dutch Church. Reported by
Beauchamp. Revolutionary War fortifications
reported for area (Sara Mascia, Personal
communication, September 2004}

Beauchamp, 1900

NYSM 5234

Described as “Traces of occupation.” Location:

southwest of Upper Tarrytown Reservoir on
Marymount School campus.

Parker, 1922

NYSM 5236

“Traces of occupation.” Location: along Cedar
Hill northwest to Rockefeller Brook.

Parker, no date

NYSM 6870

Village of Alipkonk. Historic period.
Location: east of Irving Boat Club on Hudson

River. Location is matter of dispute (See
OPRHP A119-50-0050)

NYSM 7828

Village of Alipkonk. Historic period.
Location: center of Tarrytown including Mary
Mount College campus. Location is matter of
dispute (See OPRHP A119-50-0050)

W. A. Ritchie
“Old site file,
1938”

In addition to the known sites located in the immediate vicinity of the project area,
the criteria developed by the New York State Museum clearly indicates that those
portions of the project area that were “fast” land (i.e., land that was available for
use in prehistoric times) or had not been disturbed would be considered to have a
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high potential to contain prehistoric cultural material. There are only two areas
within the project area where prehistoric potential could have existed: 1) the
South Parcel and 2) the extreme southeastern portion of the West Parcel (site of
the 19™ century brickyard). In the case of the southeastern portion of the West
Parcel, the potential was destroyed by the activities associated with the 19"
century brickyard, which wouild have mined the clay on the site without regard for
prehistoric cultural material. In the 19" century, the South Parcel contained a
house and outbuildings. This area could have maintained a degree of integrity
with respect to prehistoric cultural resources, but the demolition of the structures
on the South Parcel in the early 20" century, and the grading necessary to create
the parking lot that now occupies that area, represents an impact that would
eliminate the potential for intact prehistoric resources.

However, if any potential existed, it would be based on the following criteria:

. the location of the portions of the project area that were “fast” land (land
available to prehistoric peoples for use as habitation sites, special use
camps, processing stations, shell heaps, etc.) on the banks of the Hudson
River, a well known prehistoric resource;

. the location of those portions of the project area that were “fast” land at
the confluence of the Pocantico River and the Hudson River; confluences
have frequently been found to be the location of major sites, including
villages;

. the reported location of the Village of Alipconck at mouth of the Pocantico
River; although as can be seen from an examination of the various
suggested locations for this village, the actual site of the village is a matter
of dispute, and it is apparent that the report is anecdotal rather than based
on any verifiable information;

. and, the presence of a number of prehistoric sites in the vicinity of the
project area.

c. Effect of Project on Historic and Archaeological Resources

With respect to the effect of increased accessibility and visitation on historic and
archacological resources within the project area, there is none, since no historic or
archaeological resources are presently located within its boundaries. Furthermore,
although the Tarrytown Lighthouse and Philipsburg Manor are located cither
adjacent to the project area or in the vicinity of it, no historic or archacological
resources associated with either site will be impacted by the proposed project.
Likewise, no historic or archaeological resources associated with Kingsland Point
Park, including the Kingsland Point Park Pedestrian Bridge, will be impacted by
the proposed project.
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West Parcel: In the mid-19" century the southern part of the West Parcel was the
location of a brickyard; the rest of the West Parcel was open water. All evidence
of that 19" century industrial site and any prehistoric resources that it might have
contained would have been completely destroyed by the subsequent construction
of the General Motors plant. The construction of the railroad in the mid-19™
century created an artificial embankment on which the tracks were laid, with a
narrow strip of land on either side of the tracks. On the West Parcel (west of the
tracks), there was a small wooden structure owned by Ambrose C. Kingsland
situated at the edge of the embankment. By 1893 that structure was demolished
and subsequent development of the West Parcel would have impacted any
foundations associated with it. Prehistoric resources would not be expected
within the West Parcel, which was either open water, or completely disturbed by
the 19" century brickyard and 20" century automobile factory.

East Parcel: Historically, no buildings or structures of any type were located in
the East Parcel and, since it was open water until the construction of the railroad
turned it into marshland, no historic resources would be expected within it. There
were, specifically, no docks or other water side activities associated with the
Upper Mills located on the East Parcel. All of the structures associated with the
Upper Mills, which included, besides the dam and mill building, a wharf,
bakehouse, and other outbuildings, were located near the mill. (See Fig. 11) No
prehistoric resources of any kind would be expected in the East Parcel, since, until
the construction of the railroad, it was, like most of the West Parcel, open water.
It may have been used for fishing or shellfishing, but no evidence of these
activities would be observable prehistorically or presently.

South Parcel: In the second half of the 19" century, there was a house and
outbuildings located on the South Parcel. These structures were removed when
the Maxwell Briscoe Co. purchased the property. The grading required to create
the parking lot that now occupies the South Parcel would have significantly
impacted any historic or prehistoric resources that may have been located on the
site.

One significant advantage to the redevelopment of the General Motors site will be
that it will be easier to visit the 1883 Tarrytown Lighthouse and access Kingsland
Point Park. Presumably, no impediment would be created to prevent people from
walking into Kingsland Point Park or, perhaps, Devries Park. To increase public
awareness of the historic land uses on the General Motors site, the installation of a
series of interpretive signs could be of assistance, particularly if they were to
clearly indicate, thorough maps and aerial photographs, as well as text, the extent
to which the historic shoreline of the Hudson River has been altered by industrial
development.
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b. Maps
(Maps included were examined; those marked are included in this report)

X Anonymous
1725  Tarrytown, Map of Manor of Philipsburg. Hand-drawn map. Scale: none
shown. [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 3)

The map shows the shoreline in the area of the General Motors site before the
construction of the railroad and any filling had taken place. The map indicates
“Fylipsen Castle” (Philipsburg Manor), the mill, and the millpond, all of which
still exist, though the mill has been reconstructed. Although there would have
been supporting structures on the site, none of these are shown. Northeast of the
Manor is the Dutch Reform Church and burying ground. North of the burial
ground is a semi-circular structure that may be a Revolutionary War fortification
or, possibly, the mounds noted by Beauchamp (See Table 3: NYSM 5185).
Another similar structure was located on the southwest side of Prospect Hill. This
is a fortification dating to the American Revolution. At the time, the Albany Post
Road (King’s Highway) ran in front of the Dutch Reform Church, then turned to
cross the Pocantico River east of the church. It then ran southeast to the
intersection of the Bedford Road (site of the Gallows Tree), crossing Andres
Brook. The Continental Road, which was later straightened and renamed
Beekman Street, ran west from King’s Highway to Martling’s or VanVorts Dock
(Sara Mascia, Personal communication, September 2004). There is a house on the
south side of Continental Road just west of the “Lane™ that was owned by
Benjamin Vantassel [Van Tassel]. The Pocantico River, identified by name,
flowed south into the Philipsburg Manor millpond, over the dam, then directly
into a bay on the east side of Kingsland Point identified as “Die Slaeperingh
Haven”. The construction of the railroad in the 1840s significantly altered the
relationship of the Pocantico River to the Hudson (See Map 5). After the
construction of the railroad, the Pocantico flowed under the railroad tracks to
enter the Hudson from the north rather than from the east. Examining the 1725
map, it is clear that the majority of the property on which the General Motors
plant was located, including the entire East Parcel, is filled or man-made land.
The only part of the property that was not is the southeasternmost part of the West
Parcel, where the Smith brickyard was located. (See FEIS Section I1:E for maps
illustrating the changes in the shoreline over time)

X George L. Wiley & Bro. C.E.
1880 Tarwe-town in the Manor of Phillipsburgh, Westchester Co. N.Y. One
Hundred Years Ago. [Repository: The Historical Society, Inc. serving Sleepy
Hollow and Tarrytown] Original scale: 600° = [ (Map 4)

This map was published in 1880, but purports to represent Tarwe-town
(Tarrytown) in the year 1780. There are a number of features on the map that
conform to those seen on the 1725 map described above (See Map 3). The Manor
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House of Philipsburg is shown on the map, as is the old mill, the dam, the
millpond and the Dutch Church. The map shows a “Military Redoubt” north of
the church on elevated ground. It is likely that this is the semicircle seen on the
1725 map. In 1725 the Albany Post Road turned east just south of the church to
cross the Pocantico River on a bridge that was identified as “Bridge where Icabod
Crane had his encounter with the Headless Horseman.” In 1780 the Albany Post
Road was realigned west of its original route; it is identified as “New Post Road
now Broadway.” The Continental Road ran westward from the Albany Post Road
to VanVort & Martling’s Docks, which extended a short distance into the Hudson
River. The Continental Road descended the steep embankment overlooking the
river, running across an area of marshy land to reach the dock. The house owned
by Benjamin Van Tassel is shown on this map, as it is on the 1725 map. At the
intersection of the Albany Post Road and Main Street in Tarrytown is the house
owned by the Cowenhoven family, which in 1880 was owned by the Smith Estate.
Kingsland Point extends south and west into the river, providing protection for the
embayment identified on this map as “Die Slapering Haven, Whence the English
Sleepy Hollow”. This map indicates that the Pocantico River flowed over the
dam at Philipsburg Manor and directly into “Die Slaeperingh Haven”. The 1780
map confirms that throughout the 18" century the majority of the project area was
open water, the exception being the southeastern corner of the West Parcel,
portions of which were apparently marshy, and the entire South Parcel, which
would have been located at the top of the steep embankment shown on the map.

At the time of the American Revolution, Jacques-Gerard Milbert drew a view of
Tarrytown taken from a high hill overlooking “Die Slapering Haven.” (See Fig. 9)
While it is probable that artistic license was taken, the picture allows us to
envision the Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow site before the embayment was
filled. The land in the middle ground is the foot of present-day Beekman Avenue.
The building and the dock, at which at least one ship is moored, represent
Martling’s and Van Vort’s dock. The picture makes it appear that there may have
been a building, perhaps a warehouse, located on the dock, with two structures,
both of which could be dwellings, located on the strand. The curved shoreline
backed by the steep embankment to the south and east is shown; this is the only
portion of the General Motors site that would have been solid ground. As noted
above and discussed in more detail below, the area where the dock was located
would have been impacted by the 19" century industrial use as a brickyard and the
late 19" and 20" century development as an industrial site where automobiles
were manufactured. The potential for any part of the 18" century dock or the
buildings shown in the Milbert painting to exist on the southeastern portion of the
site is, based on the use history in this part of the site, unlikely in the extreme.
The reason for this is that mining a clay bank is an extremely invasive process,
one that involves incrementally digging the sand and clay out of the bank and
carting it away to the brick machines. In the process of excavating the clay bank,
any evidence of historic structural foundations would have been removed.
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Commiissioners of Forfeitures

1785  Map of the Upper Part of the Manor of Philipseburgh, showing the farm
occupants in 1785 prior to sales by the Commissioners of Forfeitures and who
became the purchasers of them . . . (Compiled by M. K. Couzens from original
survey by John Hills for Isaac Stoutenburgh and Philip Van Cortlandt in 1880).
[Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY]

The land associated with the project area was, at the time of the American
Revolution, owned by the Philipse family. The Upper Mills, located on the
Pocantico River, which now flows into the Hudson north of Devries Park, was an
important part of their holdings, for it was here that grain grown on the northern
portions of the Manor was ground into flour before being shipped to New York
City. In 1752-3, Frederick Philipse III, who did not wish to live at the Upper
Mills, preferring his house in Yonkers, advertised the Upper Mills as being for
lease or sale in the New-York Weekly Post-Boy (Vetare 2004:55). According to
Vetare, in 1753 ". . . he succeeded in leasing the mill site to Josiah Martin (Vetare
2004:55). The lease specified that the miller, Caesar, who was described as "a
Negro man who understands grinding . . . " was included in the lease (Vetare
2004:55). Caesar was one of five African-Americans serving Martin on the Upper
Mills property. Eight years later, in 1761, William Pugsley obtained a long term
lease (31 years) on the Upper Mills property. At the time the property, which
included about 750 acres, was described as having the manor house, a "Negro
house," a barn, as well as other edifices, one of which would have been the
bakehouse. The bakehouse was located west of the mill. It was here that bread
and hardtack were baked from the wheat ground at Upper Mills for shipment to
New York and overseas.

Sometime after 1783 an unknown artist painted Philipse Manor Hall. The view
was from the south looking north to the manor house and the mill. The dam and
the millpond are seen, while between the manor house and the millpond is a
building that may be a barn. The artist has shown three mill wheels, which,
presumably, served the three millstones said to have been working at the Upper
Mills. There is a building below the dam and mill that should be the bakehouse.
This particular view does not include the wharf, but it would have been below the
mill. There is a hand propelled vessel in the river and a second, apparently a
sloop, moving from the Hudson to the wharf. Kingsland Point is not clearly
depicted in this rendering, but the hills on the west side of the river are shown.
What the painting makes clear is that in the late 18™ century the Pocantico River
flowed directly into the Hudson. Ships delivering goods to the Upper Mills, or
taking goods away, sailed directly to the wharf, where they were loaded by the
men and women working at the Upper Mills site. Given that there was direct
access between the mill and the Hudson River, there was no need for facilities on
the shoreline of the Hudson. Pugsley may have leased the Upper Mills, but he did
not work it alone. The work force in Pugsley's time, as in the time of the Philipse
family, was African American and slave.
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In 1779 the Philipse family, Loyalists who had supported the King, were attained
of treason and their lands were confiscated. At the end of the American
Revolution, their lands were sold by the Commissioners of Forfeiture, and their
"empire" was, as reported by Margaret Vetare, effectively destroyed (Vetare
2004:57). Following the confiscation, Gerard G. Beekman, a son-in-law of
Stephanus Van Cortlandt, purchased the lease in 1785. The Beekman's made
changes at the Upper Mills, but the opening of the Erie Canal transferred the
wheat production from the Hudson Valley to the western part of the state (Vetare
2004:57). In 1822, Gerard Beekman dies, leaving his estate to his wife, Cornelia
Van Cortlandt Beeckman. At the time of Beekman’s death in 1822 the Upper
Mills was described as having “. . . a fine granite quarry, an inexhaustible water
supply, with a good Flour mill and Sawmill in operation, and an excellent whar{”
(Hutchinson 1974:58).

Prior to her death in 1847, Cornelia Van Cortlandt Beekman had made the
decision to sell off a portion of the Upper Mills, creating a subdivision known as
Beekmantown, which is present-day Sleepy Hollow. In the years after her death,
streets were laid out and lots were platted and sold. In the end, the Upper Mills
ceased to be a commercial center, becoming instead a country retreat.

X _  Delineator unknown
1848 Map of the Beckman Farm situated in the Town of Mount Pleasant in the
County of Westchester, State of New York. Map redrawn in 1881. Scale: none
shown. [Repository: The Historical Society, Inc. serving Sleepy Hollow and
Tarrytown] (Map 5)

In 1847, when Cornelia Van Cortlandt Beekman, widow of Gerard Beekman, was
selling off property, a map of the Beekman Farm was drawn and deposited in the
Westchester County Clerk's Office (Field Map 456). By 1848 the railroad had
been constructed, cutting off the eastern portion of “Die Slapering Haven” (“Die
Slaeperingh Haven” on the 1725 map) off from the Hudson River. By 1848, with
the exception of the stream bed of the “Pocantico or Mill Race”, the entire area
now occupied by the East Parcel was identified as “Marsh”. There was an “Old
Cartway™ that crossed the marsh. North of the marshland the line of the “Upland”
is indicated; this represented a topographical change in level that is also be seen
on later maps. (See Map 8) The top of the bluff was lightly covered with
woodland. South of the marshland and west of Beekman Street, on top of the
bluff, was the land of Dr. Stephen D. Beekman. In 1848 the property had a
dwelling, barns and an unidentified building that may have been a carriage house.
There was a lane that led from Beekman Street into the property. On the north
side of Beekman Street (now Beekman Avenue), which had by this time been
straightened, a number of house lots had been laid out, but with the exception of
the Irving Institute, which had already been built, no buildings had been
constructed. There were houses on the south side of Beekman Street. The route
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of the Croton Aqueduct is included on this map, along with the location of one of
the ventilators.

The Beekman Farm itself, which encompassed the property now occupied by
Philipsburg Manor, shows the pond, the dam and the mill. On the south side of
the dam, in the general location of the present Visitor’s Center, was a sawmill,
The main house and a number of barns and sheds are also shown, along with a
road situated on the north side of the pond that led from the Albany Post Road to
the mill. Just to the north of one of the barns was a “Cider Mill.” At the
intersection of Beekman Street, the northern extension of which was called the
“Road to White Plains”, and the Albany Post Road was William See’s store,
several shops and a number of residences.

The Pocantico River, now confined to a wide ditch (referred to as the mill race)
crossed the marshland, flowed under the railroad embankment, made a narrow S-
turn and entered “Die Slaeperingh Haven” from the north (as opposed to the 18"
century, when it entered the Hudson River from the edst). (See Map 3 & 4). From
this map it appears that some filling had already taken place on the west side of
the railroad embankment, where a portion of the area was also identified as
“Marsh.” A small stream flowed from the north and east, while another flowed
from the north, to join the channelized river just west of the railroad. The
Kingsland Point Park peninsula is not shown on this map, nor is the southeastern
portion of the West Parcel or the South Parcel. The map does indicate, however,
that there was open water a short distance west of the railroad embankment.
Along the shoreline there are several “Rocks” that also appear on one of the later
maps. (See Map 8)

X Sidney & Neff.
1851 Map of Westchester County, New York. Newell S. Brown: Philadelphia,
PA. Scale: Enlargement, no scale shown on microfiche. [Repository: Westchester
County Archives, Elmsford, NY]| (Map 6)

The Sidney & Neff map indicates that the land associated with the project area
was part of the hamlet of Beekmantown. Beekman Street (now Beekman
Avenue), which had been straightened, ran down to the Upper Dock, which
corresponds to Husted’s Dock. By this date the Van Vort & Martling’s Dock
would have been removed, probably by the construction of the railroad (if not
earlier). The map indicates that the railroad had been built, cutting off the
Pocantico River and part of “Die Slaeperingh Haven” off from the Hudson River.
The Pocantico River, now channelized, flowed under the railroad to enter the
Hudson on the northeastern edge of Kingsland Point. Kingsland Point extended
into the river, but the land on which the General Motors plant was constructed
was part of an embayment south and east of Kingsland Point. On the hill above
the river was the gristmill at Philipsburg Manor. The Dutch Reform Church is
indicated, as is the Tarrytown Cemetery. The condition of the map makes it
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difficult to read, but certain landmarks, such as Kingsland Point, are obvious,
making it possible to locate the General Motors property with certainty.

X Clark & Wagner
1862 Map of the Townships of Ossining and Mount Pleasant, N.Y. Scale: 37 =1
Mile. [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY| (Map 7)

In 1862 the Village of Sleepy Hollow was still called, as it had been for several
years, Beekmantown. Significant development was taking place; the number of
streets had increased, the streets formed a grid pattern, and there were many more
houses. Beckman Street extended west of the railroad tracks. A line drawn
between Beekman Street and Andre Brook may indicate the proposed line of
River Street, but it does not appear that it had yet been opened. Several houses
were located on the hill on Hudson Street. On the north side of Beekman Avenue
west of the railroad was a structure that may be the dwelling occupied by Charles
Smith, owner of the brickyard that surrounded it. The line that runs along the
northern portion of the Smith Brickyard indicates one of the alluvial benches
overlooking the Hudson River. This bench would most probably have been a
source of the clay for the brickyard, though once this source was exhausted it is
possible that the brickyard was supplied with clay from areas like Haverstraw.
The area to the north of this line would be the marshy area seen on the earlier
maps. (See Map 5) East of the railroad, in the approximate location of Barnhart
Avenue, which ran north, then west, to the railroad tracks, was another dwelling.
This dwelling, which was located on top of the bluff, had formerly been the
mansion of Dr. Stephen Beekman, but was now owned by Frederick Beekman.
The entire area east of the railroad, including the East Parcel, is shown as solid
ground, but earlier and later maps indicate that it was marshland.

Frederick W. Beers

1867 Plan of Beekmantown, Tarrytown and Irving, Westchester County, New
York. Detail from Atlas of New York & Vicinity. F. W. Beers, d. Ellis & C. G.
Soule: New York, NY. Plate 10. Scale: 1%/, ” =1 Mile. [Repository: Westchester
County Archives, Elmsford, NY]

This map provides a clear picture of the land associated with the project area.
Beekman Avenue ran slightly southwest, crossing the railroad tracks, and ending
abruptly at the river’s edge. North of Beekman Street (the General Motors site)
was Charles (Chas.) Smith Brick Yards. South of Beekman Street was Husted’s
Wood and Coal Yard (site of the Upper Dock on Map 6). The steamboat dock
seen south of Beekman Street on the 1862 map was now identified as part of the
Husted’s yard. The office and one other building were located adjacent to
Husted’s Dock. Looking at the Charles Smith Brick Yards site there is a structure
located north of Beekman Avenue and west of the railroad tracks. It is probable
that this is the dwelling of the Smith family, but no owner’s name is shown, and it
is possible that it was not occupied. By this date the configuration of the shoreline
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north of Beekman Avenue was already being altered by industrial activity, with
areas that had appeared as natural shoreline on the 1862 map becoming
increasingly rectilinear, an indication that the land was being manipulated, in this
case for industrial purposes. The Pocantico River entered the Hudson from the
north, as it had since the construction of the railroad.

X Mark Carpenter & Sons, Surveyors
1871 Map of Property Belonging to A. S. Kingsland situated near Tarrytown,
New York compiled from various sources. Original scale: 17 = 150°. Current
scale on map. [Repository: Westchéster County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map
8

This map extends from north of Kingsland Point to the south side of Beekman
Street. It is a detailed map showing the acquisitions of A. C. Kingsland over a
number of years. The portion of the map that specifically reiated to the project
area provides details of ownership and the dates when Kingsland acquired various
parcels, the location of water patents, and details of topography, as well as the
location of various structures in the vicinity of the project area. In 1871 the land
that had been owned by Charles Smith was identified as the site of “Brick kilns,”
but the location of the kilns is not shown. We know from the 1881 map (See Map
10} that the kilns were located near the river’s edge. To the northwest of the
brickyard, on a separate parcel, was a small structure that we know from other
maps was owned by A. C. Kingsland. The fact that the land dropped
precipitously along the center of the property is shown by the lines indicating the
alluvial bench, most probably the location of the clay bank. The narrow strip of
land along the railroad embankment seen on earlier maps is shown on this map —
it appears from the light dotted line along it that a lane or roadway ran west of the
railroad.

The land immediately south of the mouth of the Pocantico River had belonged to
two different owners: there was a small parcel owned by Werner that was
acquired by Kingsland in 1850, and a larger parcel (contained 2 acres) that had
been acquired from Mariah Bishop in 1865. The map shows a bridge that joined
this 2-acre parcel to Kingsland Point, and the location of a mansion house,
greenhouse, garden, bath house, and dock. The edge of Kingsland Point was
supported by a wall that fronted the river. An elaborate carriage drive ran from
the northern end of Kingsland Point Park, looping around the house and providing
access to the grounds. This land had been owned by James Brown, who sold his
riverfront estate to Kingsland in 1856. The purchase of the water patent was made
in 1867. North of the Pocantico River on the west side of the railroad it was
marshland, as well as on the east side of the tracks.

The portion of the marsh that was south of the channelized Pocantico River was
owned by W. H. Aspinwell. A stream that originated on land owned by G. R.
Beekman flowed west and north across the marsh to enter the Pocantico River.
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The southern edge of the marsh was defined by a “Ditch”. The land to the south
of the ditch was also marshland, owned variously by G. R. Beekman, George
Andrews, and S. F. Beekman, who at some point sold his property to A. C.
Kingsland. The property lines are marked on the map with the surveyors
delineation. Just south of the property line, the land rose to the level of Beekman
Street (now Beekman Avenue). The land closest to the railroad was owned by G.
F. Beekman, that to the east to George Andrews; beyond that was a church and the
military school. A portion of the “Old Continental Road” appears as a dotted line
extending westward from Pocantico Street. (See Map 2) The land north of the
“0ld Continental Road,” including Philipsburg Manor, was owned by Jacob
Storm, who sold his holdings to A. C. Kingsland in 1863. The property shows the
millpond, dam, mill, the building that on earlier maps.is identified as the sawmill,
the main house, and a small outbuilding. The barns and other outbuildings seen
on earlier maps are no longer shown.

North of the Pocantico River was marshland that extended to a low rise identified
as “Line of Upland.” A small stream that originated from a spring on land that
had been owned by Myers (acquired by Kingsland in 1857) flowed south into the
Pocantico River. The marsh north of the Pocantico contained approximately 17
acres. The upland area, which contained +59 acres, had a house, stable, elaborate
carriage drive and extensive orchard that extended eastward to the Highland
Turnpike (Albany Post Road).

In 1871 the East Parcel, then, was marsh that was crossed by the channelized
Pocantico River, a ditch that appears to be in the same location as the “0Old
Continental Road” and two small streams. The portion of the South Parcel
containing the buildings is not shown on this map, but we know that it contained a
dwelling and probably a carriage house, as well as a loop carriage drive with a
turnaround on the side of the building fronting Hudson Street. The southeastern
corner of the West Parce] was the site of the brickyard and a small structure
owned by A. C. Kingsland. There was a narrow strip of land along the western
edge of the railroad and two parcels of land on the south side of the mouth of the
Pocantico River. The balance of the West Parcel was, in 1871, open water.

X J. B. Beers & Co.
1872  Plan of North Tarrytown, Town of Mount Pleasant. Detail from County
Atlas of Westchester, New York. J. B. Beers & Co.: New York, NY. Plate 38.
Original scale: 17 =20 Rods. [Repository: Westchester County Archives,
Elmsford, NY] (Map 9)

This detail of the Village of Sleepy Hollow, now named North Tarrytown rather
than Beckmantown, includes the project area. Beekman Street and other
important streets in the village are identified. The brickyards operated by Charles
Smith are north of Beekman Avenue. The building lot lines on the 1862 map are
indicated, but the structure (perhaps now unoccupied) seen on the earlier map is
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no longer shown. It is likely that it was pulled down to permit mining of the clay
bank. There is a small structure located at the northeastern edge of the brickyard
next to the railroad that was owned by A. C. Kingsland, who by this date also
owned the land on the east side of the railroad tracks. The dwelling located east
of Barnhart Avenue, which extended north and then west to the railroad, was now
owned by S. E. Beekman. This building, which had a carriage drive leading into
it from Beekman Street and a carriage turnaround at the front of the house, was
seen on the 1862 map. The tavern now located on the southeastern corner of
Hudson Avenue (See Photo 20) was standing by this date, as were several other
houses on that block. (See Photo 21) The land associated with the South Parcel
was occupied by a dwelling owned by S. Emberson. The N. W. Husted Lumber,
Wood and Coal Yard was south of Beekman Avenue. The Husted office and a
large shed building are shown west of a new street, identified as Water Street. At
the time Water Street (now River Street), not yet completely filled and opened,
did not extend as far as Division Street and Wildey Street. The straight lines and
extreme rectilinearity of the land at the foot of Beekman Street and along the river
to the north and south indicates filled land, as opposed to natural shoreline.

The 1872 map indicates that the South Parcel was owned by [S.] Emberson. It
had a house that was located in the center of the property, sited to take advantage
of the views of the Hudson River and the sunsets behind the hills on the west side
of the river. The East Parcel appears as solid ground, but was still marshland.
The southeastern portion of the West Parcel was the location of the Charles Smith
Brickyards. There was a narrow strip of land along the western edge of the
railroad embankment and on the south side of the Pocantico River. Although
some filling had taken place by 1872, most of the land associated with the West
Parcel was open water.

X G. W. Bromley
1881 Village of North Tarrytown (from Atlas of Westchester County, New
York). Geo. W. & Walter S. Bromley: New York, NY. Original scale: 17 = 250",
Plate 124. [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 10)

In 1881, Beekman Street appears to end at the Hudson River, with present-day
River Street (then called Division Street) making a dog-leg and running along the
shoreline. The brickyards north of Beekman Avenue were now part of the Charles
Smith Estate. The manufacturing area and kiln sheds, built since 1872, were
located along the shore on filled land. The location of the kiln shed next to the
river allowed the brick to be easily moved from the kilns onto barges that carried
the brick to New York City or construction sites in other areas. The small
building located west of the railroad tracks in the northern part of the property that
was owned by Kingsland in 1872 was still standing, but no owner is identified. It
is standing, however, on a separate parcel from that occupied by the brickyard,
suggesting different ownership than the brickyard. The owner of this land 1s, no
doubt, A. C. Kingsland, who was acquiring property along the river. The house
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on the hill that had been owned by the Beekman family in 1872 was now owned
by the Titler Estate. It appears that a change had been made in the carriage drive
leading into the house. North and east of the Titler property was land owned by
George Andrews. There was a long, straight lane leading into the house. To the
east were three small outbuildings. East of the Andrews property was “Beekman
Grove,” which was owned by Gertrude Beekman. South of Beekman Avenue is
the Husted lumber and coal yard, but the name of the owner is not included on
this particular map. As on the 1872 map, the rectilinearity indicates man-made
land rather than natural shoreline. The Pocantico River is well defined on this
map, along with the two small streams to the north and south. The course of the
river corresponds to that seen on the Beekman Farm map of 1848. (See Map 5)

The East Parcel was then marshland; the southeastern corner of the West Parcel
was the Charles Smith Brickyard, a narrow strip of land along the west side of the
railroad and land on the south side of the channelized Pocantico River; and the
South Parcel contained a house overlooking the river with a carriage drive that
entered the property at the corner of Beekman Street and Hudson Street and
existed near the southern boundary of the site on Hudson Street. The house,
which was square, was, we know from other sources, oriented to the river with a
gallery porch supported by four columns. In 1881 the property was owned by
George Emerson [sic]. There are other maps that indicate that the owner of the
property was named Emberson. (See Map 9, 11 & 12)

X Joseph R. Bien
1893  Atlas of Westchester County, New York. Julius Bien & Company: New
York, NY. Plate 22. Original scale:1” = 300°. [Repository: Westchester County
Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 11) '

In 1893 the kiln sheds of the Charles Smith Brickyards had been demolished and
replaced by the brick buildings of the Rand Drill Company, which had purchased
the property in 1885. The Rand Drill Company manufactured a rock drill
powered by either steam or compressed air that was used for blasting (GMC
1996:8). The Rand Drill Company was a major contributor to the industry in the
area, quarrying local stone and preparing sites for major projects (GMC 1996:8).
The new building was located east of the site of the brickyard kiln sheds and was
oriented toward Beekman Avenue rather than the river. Behind the brick building
was a small wooden structure oriented southeast-northwest. Two other buildings,
one woaoden and the other brick, had been built at the northeastern corner of the
property. The land owned by the Rand Drill Company, which is reported to have
included 225 acres along the Hudson River, appears to have been extended further
into the river than it had been when the brickyard was in operation. As has been
noted previously, the rectilinearity of the shoreline indicates filled land as opposed
to natural shoreline. The northeastern boundary of the Rand Drill Company
property indicates that the A. C. Kingsland Estate owned a portion of the land
immediately west of the railroad. A small wooden structure, seen on the 1871 and
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1872 maps, was still standing. (See Map 8 & 9) One of the dwellings owned by
the A. C. Kingsland Estate was east of the railroad at the top of the hill
overlooking the project area. In 1872, S. E. Beekman had owned this house. The
location of the building owned by Kingsland that was west of the railroad, when
compared with its location on the 1872 map, gives an indication of the extent of
the filling that was taking place on the land later owned by General Motors. The
Emberson house was still located on what is now referred to as the South Parcel,
along with two small structures identified as stables, one adjacent to Hudson
Street and the other adjacent to River Street (then part of Division Street). The
Husted Bros. operated the lumber and coal yard on the river.

In 1889 the Rand Drill Company, which had purchased the Smith brickyards in
1885, relocated its plant to Painted Post, west of Binghamton, New York. (GMC
1996:8). The following year, the 225 acre parcel, which must have included water
lots as well as dry land, and an additional 41 acre parcel were sold to John Brisben
Walker and Amiz L. Barber, who incorporated as the New Automobile Company
of America (almost immediately changed to Locomobile Company of America) to
manufacture steam driven automobiles at the North Tarrytown site. Within a
short time Walker and Barber had gone their separate ways, and Walker, who
retained the North Tarrytown site, established a new entity called the Mobile
Company of America. ’

In 1899, Walker began building a new factory to the design of Sanford White, a
member of the firm of McKim, Mead and White. (See Fig. 4) The plant produced
its first steam car in March 1900. The factory was 300 feet long, 50 feet wide, 3
stories high, with 700 windows, and was surmounted by a large clock tower with
its clock facing the town (GMC 1996:10). The choice to build a steam car
ultimately led to the demise of the Walker enterprise, which was sold in 1903 to
Jonathan D. Maxwell and Benjamin Briscoe.

Thus, in 1893, the East Parcel was marsh owned by A. C. Kingsland, the South
Parcel, containing a house, was owned by S. Emberson, and those portions of the
West Parcel that were dry land were owned by the Rand Drill Company and A. C.
Kingsland. The Rand Drill Company had, it appears, extended the filling
operation, creating a stepped-back bulkhead along the west side of the property.
The land to the north, along the railroad, and on the south side of the mouth of the
Pocantico River appears relatively unchanged, with the bulk of the West Parcel
still open water.

X  G. W. Bromley
1901 Arlas of Westchester County, New York. G. W. & W. S, Bromley:
Philadelphia, PA. Plate 43. Scale: 1” = 250". [Repository: Westchester County
Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 12) .
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By 1901, the land north of Beekman Avenue was being further developed and
extended. The Stanford White factory {See Fig. 4), built for Maxwell’s Mobile
Company of America, had been enlarged and a number of other buildings built.
One of these was perpendicular to the river’s edge. Other buildings, apparently
made of wood, had been built north of the brick buildings. A spur of the railroad
ran into the plant site. Comparing this map with the 1893 map indicates that the
edge of the river, no longer exhibiting the stepped-back look, was being filled to
create additional space. (See Map 11) The northern boundary line of the property
is shown. Tt appears much as it did in the late 19" century. The land to the north
that had belonged to the Kingsland Estate was now owned by The Mobile Co. of
America, the entity established by John Brisben Walker in 1898. The Mobile
Company of America, which owned, it is reported, over 225 acres along the river,
also owned land on the north side of the Pocantico River. The Pocantico River
still flowed under the railroad, entering the Hudson on the south side of Kingsland
Point. The small tributary running north into the Pocantico is shown on this map,
but the stream to the south is not. On the hill to the south overlooking the project
area was the house that had been owned by A. C. Kingsland in 1893; no owner is
shown on the 1901 map. The map indicates that the house had either been
divided or that a new structure had been built. There was a small building north
of the house, and an L-shaped stable on the eastern property line. South of
Beekman Avenue the land identified as the South Parcel was still owned by S.
Emberson. Southwest of the Emberson property the line of Beekman Avenue was
Division Street. Today the portion of the street that runs along the river is known
as River Street. On the west side of the intersection of Beekman Avenue and
River Street, the River View Hotel had been built. The A. P. Husted Lumber and
Coal Yard is shown.

Information obtained from the General Motors Corporation publication
Tarrytown, An Autobiography 1915-1996, indicates that Walker’s steam
automobile plant entered bankruptcy in 1903 and that the land and the buildings
on it were purchased in the same year by Jonathan D. Maxwell and Benjamin
Briscoe (GMC 1996:10). The first Maxwell was produced at the North Tarrytown
plant in September 1904.

In 1901, the East Parcel was still marsh, as was at least a portion of the land south
of the mouth of the Pocantico River (part of the West Parcel). The remainder of
the West Parcel was land owned either by the Rand Drill Company or The Mobile
Company of America or was open water. The shoreline along the western edge of
the Rand Drill Company facility had been extended further, smoothing out the
jagged line seen on the 1893 map. (See Map 11) The land on the west side of the
railroad appears to have been extended some distance into the Hudson River, but
that to the north does not appear to have undergone much change. The South
Parcel was still owned by the Emberson family. The house and carriage drive are
shown on the map, but the outbuildings are not included.
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_X  United States Geological Service (USGS)
1902 USGS Topo. 15 Minute Series. Tarrytown Quad. Current scale: 17 =1
Mile. [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY]| (Map 13)

The USGS Tarrytown Quad was surveyed in 1902 and reprinted in 1934, but the
conditions seen on this particular USGS map correspond to those of the earlier
time. The location of the lighthouse in 1902 was almost % mile west of the New
York Central and Hudson River Railroad tracks and '/, mile southwest of
Kingsland Point. Today the lighthouse is located directly off the shoreline,
connected to the General Motors site by a bridge, a clear indication of the extent
of filling that has taken place. (See Photo 8 & Fig. 7) Although we know from
other maps that between 1899 and 1901 the Mobile Company of America had
built a number of structures on the south part of the West Parcel, none are shown
on the 1902 USGS topographical map.

X E. Belcher Hyde
1908 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. GE. Belcher Hyde: Philadelphia,
PA. Plate 9. Current scale: 1 = 2000°. [Repository: Westchester County
Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 14)

The Hyde map also shows the Tarrytown Lighthouse standing in open water
approximately 2000 feet west of the New York Central and Hudson River
Railroad. This map indicates that a building owned by the Maxwell Briscoe
Company had been built on the southeastern part of Kingsland Point. The
Maxwell Briscoe Company was the owner of Kingsland Point at the time. No
structures are shown in the area that had been occupied by the Rand Drill
Company, but later maps indicate that they were still standing. The land owned
by the Mobile Company of America in 1901 was now identified as the Maxwell
Briscoe Company and the Philipse Manor Land Co. As noted above, the
rectilinearly of the shoreline is an indication that filling was taking place.

This map, while relatively modern in date, does not provide a clear indication of
the conditions on the General Motors site. For example, as noted, the buildings
on the southern part of the West Parcel are not shown, though we know from
other sources that they were standing. Conditions on the South Parcel are also
obscured. In 1901, the Emberson house was still standing (See Map 12}, but in
1911, the South Parcel was owned by the Maxwell Briscoe Company and it
appears that the house had been removed. (See Map 15) Conditions on the East
Parcel cannot be determined, but there is no reason to think that they had changed
significantly from earlier dates.

X G.W.Bromley
1911 Part of the Village of North Tarrytown (from Atlas of Westchester County,
New York) G. W. & W.S. Bromley: Philadelphia, PA. Plate 21. Original scale:
1”7 =250". [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 15}
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The 1911 map of the Village of North Tarrytown indicates that the land formerly
occupied by the Rand Drill Company was now the Maxwell Briscoe Company
Automobile Works. According to the General Motors history of the Tarrytown
plant, by 1910 there were 2,000 persons employed at the plant. Some of the
buildings on the site had in some cases been enlarged, some had been demolished,
and some new buildings had been built. The main building was the same, but the
building directly north of it had been extended north and east. These two
structures are identified as the Parts & Repair Department. To accommodate the
building to the north a small wooden structure had been demolished. North of
these two buildings a narrow wooden building had been built. Along the
riverfront the land had been extended, creating room for the expansion of the
building that had been located west of the main building. A smaller building had
been built north of it. The numerous small wooden buildings seen on the 1901
map had been removed from the site.

Immediately west of the New York Central and Hudson River Railroad tracks was
an unpaved lane that gave access to the east side of the Pocantico River, where a
wooden building had been built. Just before the Pocantico the lane divided,
crossing the river on two bridges. A railroad spur had been built to the east side
of the Pocantico south of the bridges. South of the railroad spur, at the water’s
edge, was a small square structure of wood. At the entrance to the lane, adjacent
to Beekman Avenue, was another small wooden building. This building was
located on land that had been owned by the Philipse Manor Company, but was
now owned by the Maxwell Briscoe Company. Continental Road, which was not
shown on late 19" or earlier 20" century maps, ran from Pocantico Street to the
east side of the raiiroad tracks. North of Continental Road the Village of
Tarrytown owned the land. The balance of the land east of the Village of
Tarrytown property was owned by the Philipse Manor Co. The Philipse Manor
Co. also owned the house at the top of the bluff overlooking the project area that
in 1893 had been owned by the A. C. Kingsland Estate. The former Emberson
land (the South Parcel) was owned by Maxwell Briscoe Company. The house and
stable had been removed.

In 1911, the Maxwell-Briscoe Motor Company was doing well, but this changed
in 1913 when it joined with the United States Motor Company, which promptly
went bankrupt (GMC 1996:11). The works were taken over for a year by A. R.
Gormully and B. J. Knerr, who built small, motor-driven, delivery carts, but by
1915 they too were in receivership. This pattern of success, followed by collapse,
was typical of the early years of the automotive industry.

The property was then purchased for $267,000.00 by William C. Durant, who
with Chevrolet first established the Chevrolet Motor Company. Early in 1916 fire
destroyed the motor test shed, necessitating new construction on the site. In 1919,
another emergency, a fire and explosion in the electric enameling area, led to the
construction of another new building to house the new ovens. While new
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buildings were constructed, others were being dismantled: in 1919 it is reported
that the Tarrytown machine shop was dismantled and transferred to Flint,
Michigan (GMC 1996:18). Throughout its history the General Motors site has
been rebuilt and reorganized to facilitate the production of automobiles. That
production continued from 1915, when the first Chevrolet came off the line, until
1996 when the plant was finally closed.

In 1911, the South Parcel was vacant land that may well have been used as it is
today, as a parking lot. The East Parcel appears to be solid ground, but it is
possible that it was still a marsh. A lane, called Continental Road, ran west from
Pocantico Street across the East Parcel to the railroad embankment. There has
been some confusion concerning the history of Continental Road: the map
research suggests that should correspond with the early 18" century Continental
Road, but recently this suggestion has been called into question, when a local
informant told us that the old Continental Road corresponds with Beekman
Avenue, which was straightened in the early 19" century (Sara Mascia, Personal
communication, September 2004). Whatever the case, the current Continental
Street does correspond with the “Continental Road” shown on the 1911 map. The
West Parcel continued to expand westward and northward into the river, but a
significant part of the project area was open water in 1911.

X  Sanborn Map Company
1924  Sanborn Insurance Maps of the Town of Greenbourgh, New York.
Sanborn Map Company, New York, NY. Vol. 2. Plate 201. Original scale: 100’
=1". [Repository: Westchester County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 16A & B)

By 1920 the auto industry had become the largest industry in America (GMC
1996:20) and the expansion and elaboration of the General Motors plant at
Tarrytown reflects this fact. The Sanborn Insurance Map provides detailed
information concerning the arrangement of the buildings on the former General
Motors site. On the north side of Beekman Avenue was the Chevrolet Motor Co.
Plant No. 2. There were a number of buildings located on this part of the site,
including:

¢ Assembling area, Varnish Room, and Stock Room - this part of Plant No. 2,
which was a 1-story structure, corresponds to the main building of the Rand
Drill Company and Maxwell Briscoe Automobile Company.

e Export and Packing, Stock Room, Battery Charging and Delivery Building -
corresponds with the brick and wooden structure seen on the 1911 map (See
Map 12). This building, which was connected to the main building, was also a
1-story structure.

¢ Storage Building — this building corresponds to the long, narrow wooden
structure seen to the east of the main building on the 1911 map. Itisalsoa 1-
story building.
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s Office, Boiler Room and Parts Department — the two buildings seen to the
west of the main building on the 1911 map have been joined to create a long,
narrow structure. The office, located on the south end of the building, was a
2-story structure, the rest of the building was 1-story.

e Delivery Shed — west of the Office was a building that had been built after
1911. It was 1- story in height.

¢ Railroad spur to Plant No. 2 — the railroad spur appears on the 1911 map, but
it now terminates at the north end of the Parts Department, rather than the
north end of the main building. The two tracks were separated by a wooden
loading platform.

e Carpenter Shop — a new wooden building located north of the railroad spur. It
was a 1-story structure. '

e Power House — a concrete building built between 1911 and 1924,

Importantly, north of the Carpenter Shop was open water; this area would later be
filled. (See Fig. 5) A double tracked railroad spur extended north, connecting the
southern and northern parts of the site. For most of its length it was divided by a
wooden loading platform.

The northern part of the General Motors site was the location of the Chevrolet
Motor Company Plant No. 1. None of the buildings on the site in 1924 had been
built in 1911, and those that had been built had been demolished. The buildings
located on the north part of the site were:

¢ Power House — this building was located between the mouth of the Pocantico
River and the railroad tracks. It was brick with concrete floor and roof. There
was an exterior brick chimney for the power house.

e Railroad spurs — two railroad spurs ran to this building, one to the southeast
that served the Unloading Shed and one to the north that connected with the
Assembling area. The railroad spurs crossed the Pocantico River on wooden
bridges.

e Plant No. 1 — in contrast with Plant No. 2, most of Plant No. 1 was a 3-story
structure. The only activity identified on the map is Printing, which was
located on the 3™ floor. One portion of the building, located to the north, was
a 1-story structure.

¢ Unloading Shed - southeast of Plant No. 1 this was a 1-story building served
by one of the railroad spurs.

e Tin Shop — the tin shop was a 1-story building located east of the Unloading
Shed.

Although it is not reflected on this particular map, which dates to the previous
year, the Fisher Body manufacturing facility was opened at Tarrytown in June
1925. At the outset, it was able to produce 60 bodies a day (GMC 1996:20). The
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following year, the Fisher Body Company became part of General Motors (GMC
1996:21).

The 1924 Sanborn map provides clear evidence that the open water between the
south part of the site and the north had not yet been campletely filled. The
Pocantico River still entered the Hudson on the south side of Kingsland Point,
now identified as a park. However, and importantly, no part of the land associated
with Plant No. 2 was located on a natural land surface, and all of the land would
have been completely disturbed by the construction of Plant No. 1 and its ancillary
buildings.

X  G. W. Bromley
1931 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. G. W. Bromley: Philadelphia,
PA. Vol. 3. Plate 35. Original scale: 17 =200, [Repository: Westchester
County Archives, Elmsford, NY] (Map 17)

In the years between 1924 and 1931 enormous changes took place on the General
Motors site, including the construction of a new assembly plant to produce
Chevrolet automobiles (Chevroiet Motor Co. Plant No. 2) (GMC 1996:21).
Changes were rapid, as is evidenced by comparing an aerial photograph from
1925 with the 1931 Sanborn map. (See Fig. 5, Map 13A-B & Map 14). The 1925
aerial photo shows Assembly Plant No. ! on the southeastern edge of Kingsland
Point. The Pocantico River is seen as a light colored ribbon flowing under the
ratlroad tracks, but precisely where it entered the Hudson River is no longer clear.
Later it would be relocated to enter the Hudson River north of Devries Park. (See
Fig. 2) In 1925 the land between Assembly Plant No. I and the location of Plant
No 2, north of Beekman Avenue, was open water. The southern part of the
property was almost completely covered by buildings, with the water tower
standing high above all the other structures. Comparing the aerial photo with Map
13B, it is possible to identify the Delivery Shed (closest to the water) and the
building housing the Office, Boiler House, and Parts Department (immediately to
the east of the Delivery Shed). The next building housed the Varnishing Room,
Stock Room, and a large area where some type of assembly took place. Behind
that building (to the north) was the Chevrolet Motor Co. Plant No. 2. A building
identified as “Storage” was the easternmost building. The plant was served by a
railroad spur that separated Plant No. 2 from the Carpenter Shop, the
northernmost building on the property. In the aerial photo, it appears that a
covered wooden platform stood immediately west of the railroad tracks north of
the Storage building.

The 1931 Sanborn map indicates that additional areas between the northern and
southern portions of the property that had been open water in 1924 had been
filled, the old butldings on the southern part of the site demolished, and a new
building constructed that covered most of the available land (GMC 1996:26). The
extent of the fill is shown by the dotted line that marks the former shoreline and
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the location of the Pocantico River (“Old River”). The earlier land owners names,
including Beekman and Kingsland, are included on this map. The southern
portion of the site was originally part of the Beekman Farm; this would be part of
the prehistoric landscape, but, as we know from earlier maps, by the mid-19™
century this land was a brickyard and later an intensely developed industrial site,
both of which would have resulted in a profoundly disturbed landscape. The 1931
map indicates that west of the new plant was a test track (GMC 1996:26). There
is an aerial photograph of the Tarrytown plant in 1933 that shows the Fisher Body
building, Assembly Plant No. 1, the Power House and smokestack, the test track,
and, east of the railroad tracks, the land now identified as the East Parcel.

The northern portion of the site contained Assembly Plant No 1 and the Power
House, as well as the Unloading Shed and Tin Shop. The former bed of the
Pocantico River had been filled, as had the open water south of it, The part of the
General Motors site east of the railroad (now referred to as the East Parcel) was
divided by Continental Street; north of Continental Street the land had been
owned by the Beekman family, that to the south by A. C. Kingsland. The land
south of Beeckman Avenue (now referred to as the South Parcel), containing 1.5
acres, appears to have been vacant. It was probably then, as it is now, a parking
area. The area formerly occupied by the Chevrolet Motor Co. Plant No. 2, now
demolished, was occupied by an enormous single story building (Chevrolet
building) designed for the efficient production of automobiles. The office was
located on the south side of the building, with the water tower at its western end.
As has been emphasized above, the entire surface on which the General Motors
plants was located was either profoundly disturbed or man-made land. The land
to the east, which was not yet being used for parking, had in the 18" century been
open water, but had by this time become marshland. This area would later be
filled with sand from the river to create the parking area referred to as the East
Parcel.

In 1931, the East Parcel was identified as part of Kingsland Point Park. This is
corroborated by the Westchester County Park Commission Reports for 1928,
which indicates that the land now identified as the East Parcel, but then part of
Kingsland Point Park, was in the process of reclamation for an athletic field and
parking area (WCPC Report 1928:21). The contract to fill the "swamp" east of
the railroad was let on August 29, 1927. The contract went to the Metropolitan
Contracting Corp. of New York City. The amount of the bid was $52,602.50.
Although the aerial photographs of the site in 1925 and 1933 suggest that the East
Parcel remained marshland, information contained in the Commission's reports
indicates that by 1927 the East Parcel was being used for the disposal of ash and
solid waste (See DEIS, Section III.B). The South Parcel was vacant iand that
would, most probably, have been used as a parking lot, as it is today. On the West
Parcel, the most important change was that the open water that had previously
existed had been filled and buildings built on it. The former shoreline can be seen
as a light dotted line.
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_ X Hagstrom Map Company. ‘
1992  Westchester County Atlas. Map 5. Hagstrom Map Company, Inc.:
Maspeth, NY. Scale: 3” = 1 Mile. (Map 2)

X Unites States Geological Survey Maps
1960 USGS Topographical Map. 7.5 Minute Series. White Plains Quadrangle.
1:24,000. (Map 1)

c. Aerial Surveys
X_ Recent Aerial Photograph (See Fig. 2)

The aerial photograph of the General Motors site indicates that, with the exception
of the southeastern corner of the West Parcel, the entire land surface west of the
railroad was man-made land. The East Parcel is parking, as is the South Parcel.
The Philipsburg Manor property is indicated on the aerial photo. The Pocantico
River, which flows out of the Philipsburg Manor millpond, has been diverted
northward to enter the Hudson River north of Devries Park. This is a radical
change from the earlier location of the mouth of the Pocantico River, when it
flowed in to “Die Slaeperingh Haven” from the base of the Philipsburg Manor
mill dam. The reason for the diversion can be seen in the artificial platform that
has been created for the General Motor’s site. The buildings on the site have been
demolished, but the footprint of these structures is clearly visible in the aerial
photograph. The aerial photograph indicates the extent to which the entire land
surface has been impacted by the development of the General Motors site.

X 1925 Aerial Photograph (See Fig. 4) (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography 1915-1996, 1996)

The 1925 aerial photograph shows Assembly Plant No. 1 on the southeastern edge
of Kingsland Point. The Pocantico River is seen as a light colored ribbon flowing
under the railroad tracks, but precisely where it entered the Hudson River is no
longer clear. Later it would be channelized and relocated to enter the Hudson
River north of Devries Park. (See Fig. 2) In 1925, the [and between Assembly
Plant No. 1 and the location of Plant No 2, north of Beeckman Avenue, was open
water. The southern part of the property was almost completely covered by
buildings, with the water tower standing high above all the other structures.
Comparing the aerial photo with Map 13B, it is possible to identify the Delivery
Shed (closest to the water) and the building housing the Office, Boiler House, and
Parts Department (immediately to the east of the Delivery Shed). The next
building housed the Varnishing Room, Stock Room, and a large area where some
type of assembly took place. Behind that building (to the north) was the
Chevrolet Motor Co. Plant No. 2. A building identified as “Storage” was the
easternmost building. The plant was served by a railroad spur that separated Plant
No. 2 from the Carpenter Shop, the northernmost building on the property. In the
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aerial photograph, it appears that a covered wooden platform stood immediately
west of the railroad tracks north of the Storage building.

X 1933 and 1939 Aerial Photographs (See Fig. 6) (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography 1915-1996, 1996)

The 1933 aerial photograph has a distortion that makes is appear that the
Chevrolet building was curved, but the fact that the railroad track traces the same
pattern is a clear indication that this was an optical illusion. Plant No. 1 is at the
lower left of the photograph, with the power plant and smokestack west of it. The
recently constructed Chevrolet plant, which covered almost all of the available
ground, was south of the power plant. The structure at the south end of the plant
was the Administration Building. Beckman Avenue is at the upper right. The test
track, which ran in a loop from the Chevrolet building, is evidence in this
photograph and that from 1939. (See below) It is not clear from the acrial
photograph what conditions were on the East Parcel, but we know from other
sources that by the late 1920s the filling of the marshland had begun.

The 1939 aerial photograph focuses on the southern end of the Chevrolet building,
showing the test track and parking areas for completed cars. Both photographs
give and indication of the extent of the filling that had taken place since the 1925
aerial photograph had been taken.

X 1957 Aerial Photograph (See Fig. 7) (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography 1915-1996, 1996)

The aerial photograph taken on October 10, 1957 indicates the extent of the land-
fill as of that date. Although it appears from this aerial photograph that the East
Parcel has been filled and was being used for athletic facilities, including a
baseball diamond, the dotted lines indicate the areas that are to be filled with sand
from the river’s bottom. The General Motors® 1996 Tarrytown, An
Autobiography 1915-1996 states:

During the late 1950°s GM Tarrytown acquired 29.5 acres of
Kingsland Point Park for conversion from marshland io a parking
area. The Army Corps of Engineers started work in 1960 by dredging
the river and creating a new stretch of land a half mile long along the
waterfront, adding 15.7 acres. The land now reaches almost to the
lighthouse which at one time was 280 yards off shore (GMC 1966:56).

The caption on the aerial photograph provides the information that 26 acres of
marshland (East Parcel) and 16 acres of river were to be filled with 1 miilion
cubic yards of sand to provide space for plant expansion. The aerial photograph
shows Assembly Plant No. 1 and the Chevrolet building, as well as the power
plant, and a part of the test track. The Tarrytown Lighthouse stands in open
water; today it is joined to the General Motors site by a bridge. (See Photo 8)
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_X 1963 Aerial Photograph (See Fig. 8) Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography 1915-1996, 1996)

In 1962 there began another round of modernization and expansion, adding over a
1 million square feet to the Tarrytown facility (GMC 1996:68). In 1963 a new
administration building (41,748 square feet) was added to the Beekman Avenue
side of the Chevrolet plant. The 1963 aerial photograph shows the General
Motors plant at Tarrytown a year before the construction of the administration
building. With the exception of the construction of a waterwaste facility that was
built in 1971, this was the last expansion to take place at the Tarrytown plant.
From the 1960°s through the 1990’s, the story at the Tarrytown plant was one of
contraction, reflecting declining sales. The Tarrytown General Motors site
regrouped and revamped to remain competitive, opening a new modular paint
shop in 1988, and retooling to build the APV minivan, but in 1991, General
Motors sales dropped precipitously and plant closings in the United States and
Canada were announced. In 1996, the year that the world celebrated the 100"
anniversary of the automobile, the Tarrytown plant, which had produced GM cars
and trucks since 1915, closed (GMC 1996:99).

In the 1963 aerial photograph Plant No. 1 is at the southeastern side of Kingsland
Point Park, with Plant No. 2 covering almost all of the available land to the south
and west. On the southwestern portion of the site was a series of drives and areas
of parking; virtually the entire surface was either buildings or impervious asphalt,
all of which were located on man-made land. East of the railroad, the East Parcel
was now a parking lot. The pedestrian bridge had been built to join the East

Parcel and West Parcels. The South Parcel was being used as a parking area,

probably to store newly manufactured automobiles before they were picked up for
delivery to a dealer.

Between 1996 and 1999, the General Motors plant was demolished and removed
from the site. The concrete slabs and vestiges of the columns that supported the
roofs remain (See Photo 2-4, 6, 10, 12-13), as do the asphalt parking areas (See
Photo 7, 14, 16, & 18), pedestrian overpass connecting the East Parcel to the West
Parcel (See Photo 14), the railroad sidings (from which finished vehicles were
loaded for shipment by rail), and the elevated viaduct connecting Beekman
Avenue to the East Parcel parking lot.

3. Previous Surveys
OPRHP Files: None.
Surveys completed in the general area:

. Stage 14 Literature Review and Cultural Resource Report for Ichabod’s
Landing. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, NY.
CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants. 2001.
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. Stage 1A Literature Review and Cultural Resource Report for County
House Road LLC Subdivision. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester
County, NY. CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants. 1999,

. Stage 14 Literature Review and Stage 1B Archaeological Field Survey for
County House Road LLC Subdivision. Village of Tarrytown. Westchester
County, NY. CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants. 1999 &
2000.

. Stage 1A Literature Review and Stage 1B Archaeological Field Survey jfor
Kendal-on-Hudson. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, NY.
CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants. 1998.

Sensitivity Assessment/Site Prediction

Prehistoric Sensitivity

Histories of Westchester County indicate the presence of many prehistoric sites in
the general vicinity of the proposed project. Two sites, both in all likelihood
anecdotal, are identified north and south of the project area (NYSM 5236 &
5234). In addition, environmental conditions, including most specifically the
Hudson River and its associated tributaries, including the Pocantico River,
indicate that the portions of the project area that were not underwater in
prehistoric times, would, if undisturbed, be considered to have a high potential to
yield prehistoric cultural resources. The fact that, except for the extreme
southeastern corner of the West Parcel and the South Parcel, both of which are
profoundly disturbed, the entire site is man-made land, which was created during
various filling episodes between the mid-19" century and the mid-1960s,
eliminates the potential for the General Motors site to contain prehistoric
resources. The lack of any potential for prehistoric resources within the project
area means that the increased accessibility and visitation to the property will have
no impact on prehistoric cultural resources.

Historic Sensitivity

The literature review and map investigation indicates that, with the possible
exception of a small area in the southeastern corner of the West Parcel near the
entrance to the site (location of the Charles Smith Brickyards), and the South
Parcel (location of the Emberson dwelling and outbuilding), all of the land
associated with the project area, including the East Parcel, was man-made land
created through the deposition of fill material, some of which was pumped from
the river’s bottom. An examination of 18" century maps indicates that the
embayment east of Kingsland Point originally extended across the entire East
Parcel, and that the Pocantico River flowed over the Philipsburg Manor mill dam
into the embayment called on 18" century maps “Die Slaeperingh Haven”. (See
Map 3 & 4) At that time, it was possible for a ship to sail directly up the wharf
that had been built below the Philipsburg Manor mill. Archaeological
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investigation indicates that the area of the wharf had been made deeper to permit
larger ships to berth. The presence of a deep water anchorage at the mill would
have made it unnecessary for the Upper Mills to have docking facilities elsewhere.
There is a drawing by an unknown artist of the Upper Mills sometime after 1783
that shows the manor house, dam, and mill, as well as a number of other buildings
close to the mill. One of these would be the bakehouse, where flour ground at the
mill was converted into bread and hardtack that was shipped to New York and
overseas. (See Fig. 11) There are a number of other buildings shown in the
drawing, including what appears to be a hayrick and an animal shed. There is also
a barn-like structure to the northwest of the manor house. The area around the
manor house appears to be open land, probably used as pasture or cropland. All
of the buildings seen in this ¢. 1783 drawing would be east and northeast of the
General Motors site, which was at that time, with the exception of the extreme
southeastern corner of the West Parcel and the South Parcel, open water. The
construction of the railroad in the 1840s cut the East Parcel off from the Hudson
River. (See Map 5 & 9)

Over the years the East Parcel became marshland that was, in the 1920s and
1930s, used by the Village of Sleepy Hollow as a dumping ground. According to
information provided in the DEIS (Section III.B), land on both sides of the
railroad was created in a series of at least 12 discrete filling events, beginning in
the 1920s, that transformed portions of the Hudson River and Pocantico River into
upland. The fill consisted largely of coal cinders, various soil and aggregate
mixtures, dredge spoils and, as was often the case, construction demolition debris,
ash and furnace slag. The East Parcel portion was subsequently graded and used
as playing fields. In the 1950s further filling took place, when sand was pumped
from the river bottom to create a parking area for the General Motors plant (See
Fig. 7 & 8) At the present time the southern portion of the East Parcel is used by
the Village of Sleepy Hollow Department of Public Works for vehicle storage and
maintenance.

Map research, supported by historic records, indicates that until recently the East
Parcel was entirely open water. No historic structures of any kind would have
been located on the East Parcel, and there is no reason to believe that the East
Parcel has any historical archaeological potential of any kind.

On the West Parcel there were structures, including the Smith dwelling and, at a
later date, kiln sheds, associated with the Charles Smith Brick Yard, but evidence
of these structures would have been completed destroyed by the various episodes
of construction and demolition to create the various buildings on the General
Motors site. The construction of the General Motors facilities would also have
complete destroyed evidence of the small structure on the west side of the railroad
owned by A. C. Kingsland. The filling episodes and the construction and
demolition of buildings has eliminated any potential for historic resources within
the West Parcel. The lack of any potential for historic resources within both the
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East and West Parcel means that the increased accessibility and visitation to the
property will have no impact on historic cultural resources.

The South Parcel was the site of a 19" century house, owned by the Emberson
family, and outbuildings. These buildings stood until sometime early in the 20"
century, when they were demolished. The South Parcel is at present a parking lot,
and it appears that it was used for similar purposes from early in the 20" century.
The demolition of the buildings and the subsequent grading to create a level
surface on which to build the parking lot has destroyed or the significantly
decreased the potential of the South Parcel to contain intact subsurface historic
resources.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Prehistoric Sensitivity

Based on research performed at OPRHP, the model used by the New York State
Museum, and the reported resources in the immediate area, it is clear that, if
undisturbed, the extreme southeastern portion of the West Parcel and the entire
South Parcel would have had a high potential to yield prehistoric cultural
resources. The relationship of the site to the Hudson River and its associated
tributaries would support such a conclusion, as would the presence of reported
sites in similar environmental conditions. However, the extreme southeastern part
of the West Parcel was the location of the Charles Smith Brick Yard, which would
have mined the entire clay bank, removing any archaeological evidence that might
have been present. In addition, the construction in the late 19" and 20" century of
various industrial buildings and, over the years, their demolition and
reconstruction would have further compromised any prehistoric resources that
might potentially have been present on the southeastern corner of the site. On the
South Parcel, the various episodes of construction, demolition, and grading has
removed the potential for that area to contain intact prehistoric resources.

Based on these findings, it is, therefore, our recommendation that no further
investigation of the prehistoric archaeological potentiai of the General Motors site
be undertaken.,

Historic Sensitivity

Examination of historic maps and research indicates that in the mid-19™ century
the land north of Beekman Avenue, referred to as the West Parcel, was the site of
the Charles Smith Brick Yards. (See Map 7) There was a house on the site, but it
was removed in the 19" century, probably to allow mining of the clay bank. (See
Map 9) Evidence of this building and the historic industrial operation would have
been destroyed by subsequent development on the southern portion of the site.
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In the 19" century, the land south of Beekman Avenue, referred to as the South
Parcel, was the location of a dwelling and two stables; evidence of these structures
would have been destroyed by the grading operation that created the current
parking lot. (See Map 7, 9-12 & 15)

The land east of the MetroNorth Railroad, referred to as the East Parcel, contained
no structures, other than a baseball diamond and, perhaps, a running track (See
Fig. 7), and was, until the construction of the railroad in the mid-19" century,
open water. (See Map 3 & 4) When it was cut off from the Hudson River by the
construction of the railroad, this area gradually filled, becoming marshland. (See
Map 5) It remained marshland until the first half of the 20" century, when it was
gradually filled. First used as an athletic field, it later became a General Motors
parking lot. (See Fig. 7 & 8)

Historic research indicates that there was a 40 foot wharf at the foot of the
Philipsburg Manor mill that provided anchorage for the Philipse family ships.
The presence of the wharf and the deep water anchorage, which is confirmed by
archaeological evidence, indicates that it was unnecessary for flour and other
products produced at the Upper Mills to be transported to another dock for
shipment to New York and overseas. This reduced the potential for the former
shoreline within the East Parcel to contain a dock or other shipping facilities.
Given these facts, the East Parcel lacks any potential to contain historic resources
associated with the Philipsburg Manor Upper Mills.

In summary, in its current condition, the Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow
project arca lacks the potential to yield historic subsurface resources, and no
further investigation of its historic potential is recommended.

ATTACHMENTS

Topographic map (Appendix A: Map 1)

Location map (Appendix A: Map 2)

Historic Maps & Figures (Appendix A: Map 3-17 and Fig. 1, 3-4 & 9-11)
Aerial Photographs (See Fig. 2 & 5-8)

Photographs {Appendix B)

End of Part 1A
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Location Map including Project Area. USGS Topo. 7.5 Minute Series. White
Plains Quad. Scale: 1:50,000 (also included on map).

Location Map including Project Area. (taken from Hagstrom’s Westchester
County Street Atlas) Plate 6. Scale: 3” =1 Mile or 17 =1750".

1725 Tarrytown, Map of Manor of Philipsburgh. Hand-drawn map or area
around Tarrytown, including Dutch Reform Church, Philipsburg Manor House,
millpond, mill dam and historic Pocantico River. No scale shown on map.

1780 Tarwe-town in the Manor of Phillipsburgh, Westchester Co., N.Y. (drawn
by George L. Wiley, C.E. on September 23, 1880). Original scale: 600° = 1.

1848 Beekman Farm Map situated in the Town of Mount Pleasant. (redrawn in
1881). Original scale: unknown.

Sidney & Neff’s 1851 Map of Westchester County, New York. Scale:
Enlargement, no scale shown on microfiche.

Clark & Wagner’s 1862 Mao of the Townships of Ossining and Mount Pleasant,
NY. Scale: 3” =1 Mile.

1871 Map of Property Belonging to A. C. Kingsland situated near Tarrytown,
N. Y. Original scale: 150° per Inch.

J. B. Beers’ 1872 Plan of North Tarrytown, Town of Mount Pleasant. Detail
from County Atlas of Westchester, New York. Original scale: 1” =20 Rods.

G. W. Bromley’s 1881 Village of North Tarrytown (from Atlas of Westchester
County, New York). Plate 124. Original scale: 17 = 250°,

Joseph R. Bien’s 1893 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. Plate 22.
Original scale: 17 = 300°.

G. W. Bromley’s 1901 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. Plate 43. Scale:
17 =250°.

1902 USGS Topo. 15 Minute Series. Tarrytown Quad. Current scale: 1” =1
Mile.

E. Belcher Hyde’s 1908 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. Plate 9.
Current scale: 17 =2000’.

G. W. Bromley’s 1911 Part of the Village of North Tarrytown in the Atlas of
Westchester County, New York. Plate 21. Original scale: 17 = 250".

1924 Sanborn Insurance Map of the Town of Greenburgh, New York. Detail of
the Project Area. Vol. 2. Plate 201. Original scale: 17 = 100"

Hopkins’ 1931 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. G. M. Hopkins:
Philadelphia, PA. Vol. 3. Plate 35. Original scale” 17 =200".
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Sketch of Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow Site. (Fig. 11: Existing Sanitary
Sewer) (Source: Divney « Tung « Schwalbe, LLP) Scale on map

Aerial Photo of General Motors Development Site and Surroundings. (Source:
Divney + Tung + Schwalbe, LLP)

Location and Boundaries for the Tappan Zee East Scenic District (Source:
Divney « Tung + Schwalbe, LLP)

Artist’s rendering of Maxwell-Briscoe Motor Company plant, designed by
Stanford White, c. 1902. (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An Autobiography, 1996)

1925 Aerial photo of Tarrytown plant. (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography, 1996)

1933 and 1939 Aenal photos of Tarrytown plant. (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography, 1996)

1957 Aerial photo of Tarrytown plant. (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography, 1996)

1963 Aerial photo of Tarrytown plant. (Source: GMC, Tarrytown, An
Autobiography, 1996)

Jacques-Gerard Milbert’s c. 1776-1779 View of Tarrytown. View from the north
looking to Martling’s and Van Vort’s Dock on “Die Slaeperingh Haven”.
{Source: The Historical Society, Inc. serving Tarrytown and Sleepy Hollow)

Ilustration of changed in shoreline on General Motors site during 18% , 19" and
20" centuries.
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Mup 2: Location Map {taken from Haestrom's Wesrchester County Street). Plate 3. Scale: 17 = 180
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow., Westchester County. New York
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Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York
Map 5: 1848 Beekman Farm Map situated in the Town of Mount Pleasant. (redrawn in 1881) Original scale unknown
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York
Map 6: Sidney & Neff 1851 Map of Westchester Caunty, New York. Scale: Enlarpement. None shown on fiche
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 7: Clark & Wagner’s 1862 Map of . . . Mount Pleasant, Westchester County, New York. Scale included on map.
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 9: J. B. Beers’ 1872 Plan of North Tarryiown. Plate 38. Original scale: 20 Rods =1
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 10: G. W. Bromley’s 1881 Village of North Tarrvtown. Plate 124. Scale: 17 = 2507
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Appendix A; Maps & Figures

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York
Map 1 1: Bien’s 1893 Village of Tarryvtown and North Tarrytown. Plate 22. Scale: 17 = 330°
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Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 12: G. W. Bromley’s 1901 Atlas of Westchester County_New York. Plate 42. Scale: 17 = 250°
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures

Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

15 Minute Series. Tarrytown Quad. Current scale: 17 = 1 Mile

Map 13: 1902 USGS Topo.
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 14: E. Belcher Hyde’s 1908 Atlas of Westchester County, New York. Plate 9. Current Scale: 17 = 2000°
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lizhthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Slegpy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 15: G. W. Bromley’s 1911 Atlas of Wesichester County, New York. Plate 21. QOriginal scale: 1 = 250°

)

oo
LTI QU4 'Ja)

=

-

'{; BFALDUIY

W

tu
€
=

lighthouseldg 1a CITY/SCAPE: Cultural Resource Consultants



Lishthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Ayenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 16A: 1924 Sanborn [nsurance Map of Tarrytown, New York. Plate 201. Original scale; 1" = 100’
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York
Map 16B: 1924 Sanborn Insurance Map of Tarrytown, New York. Plate 201. Original scale: 1 = 100
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Maps & Figures
Lighthonse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beckman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York

Map 17: G. W. Bromley’s 1931 Atlas of Westchester County_New York. Vol. 3. Plate 35. Original scale: 1” = 200"
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Appendix A: Maps & Figures
Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County. New York
Fig 3: Location and Boundaries for the Tappan Zee East Scenic District. (Source: Divney + Tung « Schwalbe, LLP)

A

Hastings-?qn;f-l' dson

o 7 ..! / Tap‘pan Zee (East)

/ :
,-'-j Scenic District
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Lighthouse Landing at Sleepy Hollow. Beekman Avenue. Village of Sleepy Hollow. Westchester County, New York
Fig 4: Artist’s Rendering of Maxwell-Briscoe Motor Company Plant designed by Stanford White, ¢. 1902. Lower right:

Rendering of Tarrvtown Chevrolet Plant c. 1915. (Source: GMC. Tarrvtown, An Autobiography, 1915-1996, 1996)

Appendix A: Maps & Figures

"'D.l\l M RINCP G AT HOp ‘_ — IS

NMAVA RO P HHOLO) \L’l’l(lill\’*lli‘ ‘P

‘06172 "[HYm

plojuels Aq pausdisap ‘ueyd
Auedwo?) sojopy a03s1g
-[[3mxepy ay] jo Suspuai
UMouy 1sa114ea 3yl si siy |

- FEFTY

i et
‘ Ay [
BT L AN A

.L_llw.(..'ﬂ.-ﬂl




SJUBJ[NSUOT) 90IN0SAY [BMN] “HdVIS/ALID e Spjesnopysi)

3115 JO 1ed UIA(INnos Ul sani[Ide] pue (H0U 07) [ ON JUB[d A[qUISSSY U2aMmJaq 121em U2d0 JO JUIIXI JO UOHEBOIPUI SIATS
010Ud (9661 966/-CI16] AyduiB0Iqoiny Ul UMOIALD] "JND 195IN0S) “JUB]d UMOJALIE], JO 0O [BIISY CC61 S 81
S04 MAN ATUN0Y) 191530159y MO[[OH AdI[S JO ISE[[IA SNUIAY UBUD{RRY "MO|[OH Ad3?[S Te sUIpUeT asnoysI]

SoIN3.] 73 SaPy |y XIpuaddy




SIURINSUO)) 90M0SAY [BIM[NY) :AdVIS/ALID )
e[ Sp[asnoyiy3

s,0£61 4yl = 9¢C

‘sydesSajoyd

Yroq ur sieadde yoed) 1531 34
os|y -Suipjing Apog 4oyst] 3y]
JO Juoly Ul JBALL BY) JO ul-BUl][Y
ay Buimoys “6E6 [ Ul USYE]
sem JySu ayy uo aimoid ay |

-ojoyd ayj Jo 3pis

~3ySu saddn ayj ul 5| sNUSAY
uewyaag ‘g6 Ul Uel

SEM JUEB|4 UMOJALIE] 2] JO
ydeiSojoyd [eisae aroqe 34|

] "C61 Ul I5jem Uad0 Sem Jey) Bale Ul pue| 2pew-Uetd 4o J[Ing Sem jue

= v Y . . ! d
GWM_ NME ,.QE_HEQENQ.GE@ U UMOILHD ] “JIND -201N03) JUB|J UMOJAIIE] JO 0J0YJ [EleY _M.mon_,~ % qwo_m .\m,w_z
FI0A MAN “AJUN0]) I19IS3LISS M, “MO[[OH AdIS|S JO J5E|[IA "oNUaAY UeLNaeg "MO[|OH Euu_.m 18 SUIpue’| wW:oﬁo:M_m“

SIS % Sde)y .y Xipuaddy




SJuE)[ASU0’) 30.MOosay [eImnD) “HIVIS/ALID e[ Splesnoyys

o e e e e e e o —

(9661 9661~ S 161 A{dDA30IGoIny
T UMOJIT] JIND -991n05) (15M07]) 000d 1oV €961 7 (1odd1) JUe|d UMOIALIB] JO 0j0Ud [eH3V ZS61 '8 % L 51

S0, MaN “AUN0,) 155302153 f\ MO[[OH AdJ3[S JO 93B[[IA SNUIAY UElDjoaq "MO[[0H Ads9[S J& SUIple | 9snOysi ]
SOIMSI] % SUeN [y Xipuaddy




SIU[NSU0)) 2M0sIY [BIMIND :FJVIS/ALID e Splasnopy3i

31903 [EOHOISIH U1, :20IN0S) "UMOJAIID] JO MBT] 6L-OLL1 9 5, Hoq[IJA PIeIan)-5anbaer ;6 81
IO A MIN ATUN0,) JBI59U0ISa A\ MO[[O[] Ada3[S JO SSB[[IA oNUaAY UBUD|a9g MO[[0H Adaa[s J& sUlpUe | 9snoqIyar]
S3INsl] 2 sAejy .y xipuaddy







SIUB)NSUO) 224N0SaY [edMN) HAJVIS/ALID m_mﬂ.ﬁ_uﬂqosu:&:

SHdVHYOO0.LOHd

4 XIANIdd Y



SIUEJ[NSUOD) 22IN0SAY [BINND) ‘HIVIS/ALID

easnoyysi|
‘punoisyoeq

ul si jded Juiod pue(sury ‘sjuaLWAseq pue s100[} punosd Suiaea] ‘JJo 1o azam jool oyl Furpoddns swieaq
oy} ‘paysijowap sem jueld uaypy "A1031s-| sem Sulpjing ‘'z "oN ue]d Auedwo)) S1010J] 19[01AYD) Aq
Pa1dno20 A[I3ULIO] 219M 9IS JY] JO SBAJE 93IR] "ONUIAY UBUIIE WOI] ]IS SSOIOB YLIOU ML A 1T 0J0yJ

"JSOMIIIOU O] MAIA SPIRANOLIg YUWIS Sa[IBY)) JO UOIRO0]

SEM SI) AINIUSD 6] U] "ONUSAY UBUDRSg WO 211 JUB[d JOJOJ [BJ2USD) ) 0} douenuy ] 0)0Yg

HI0 A MaN "ATUN0,) JOISAUDISa A, MO0 AQII[S JO 9BE[[1A SNUSAY UBUD[RY MO[[O]] AdI3[§ I suIpue | asnoqiyar]

Sdersojolq g xipuaddy



SIUBINSUOT) 92MOSIY [BIMND) :FIVIS/ALID 2 2snopy3i|

*1£6] 210]2q AJHOYS Pajeald sem 11 JO yonuw ing
‘AImuao 61 Ul Pa[[}J 319M SUOIIOd tpue| dpew-Uew ST BaTe JINUF "JOOJJ-qns pue Joof Ayl Jo AJrxajdwod
ay1 pue s3uIp[ing 2y} JO JZIS 2] JO UOIBOIPUI SIAIS ANUIAY URUD[IAE] WIOIJ ISIMILIOU 0] MIIA § 0)0J

‘PEOI|IRI IIONOJISJA] JO 1sam
o[ 7, Ajarewrxoidde sispem uado Ul poo)s “aourlsIp Ul UA3S ‘asnoyIy3I| 3] A[[BILIOISTH "pUE| SpEuI-UeU
uo pajedo] aIe seare Sunjied Jjeydse pue sSulpjing "oNUIAY UBUD{OdE WOIJ ISOMYLIOU 0] MIIA I 0)0fJ

SHO X MAN AJUNO,) J0ISUISa ) MO[[OH] AdII[S JO 98B[[IA oNUSAY UeUD3og MO[[O[] Adad[S 18 SUiple | osnopysr]

SqdeISojoLqg :g xpuaddy



SIUBY[NSUOD) 22IN0SIY [BIM[ND) :IdVIS/ALID Basnoyjysi]

'|9A3] PUNOI3 3} SAOQE 333 [BISASS Pasiel ale sTUIP[Ing 2} JO SI00[] ) 21U JO JSOW UQ "S[IqOoWoIne
JO aumjoRjNUBW 21BI[198] 0] PAUSISap UNIONNS A10)s-| B Sem g "ON| JUB|J BaJe 2010 Jo uondaoxa
UNM T "ON Jue|d Auedwo)) Jojopy 19]01Aay)) Jo suoniod spunoins Julouay Yui[ urey)) :9 030y

"$)[0BJ) prOJ|IEI jO 1583 SI BaTe Sunjed [oored jseo 0] AempeOy
"punoidyoeq ul si 10] Sunjied [9o1ed js82 WOLJ 93pLIq UBLYSIPIJ "[901ed Jsom L) S PaIJIJUPI vAIR
Uo pajedo] i Jue|d JOJOJA] [BISUIN) "ONUSAY UBUNOSY WOLJ YOI} PROI[IE] YHONOIRJA JO MIIA S 0J0Y ]

e

SHOA MaN “ATUN0,) J2)SaUoISa N\ MO[[OF] Adoe|S JO 98B[[IA SNUGAY UeUD[3ag MO[|OH Ad33[S 18 SUIpue’ ] asnomiyar|

Sqdersojolq 'g Xipuaddy



SJUe}NSU0’) ADMOSAY [RIM[ND *HIVIS/ALID elasnoyys)

“ISOMULIOU 0] MAIA PI[Y A[2e]dwod udaq sey ease
1Byl [£6] Ag SOl pEOI|IRI 9 JO ISom o[t 7, A[a1ewrxoidde 1a1em uado ut pooss asnoquydi| 241 206 |
u Jeyy aearpul sdew odo ], §HSN dH0ISIH “Auadoad jo a3pa wis)sam uo pajeso] asnoyiysiy :g 030qg

e e e e

“JSOM 0] MIIA “puE|
opew-uew Ajanua st gary “Auedold oy jo sued snowrea 03 sseode popiaoid Suiaed jeydsy iz ojoyg

THO A MaN "Ajuno)) IAISaIIsay “MO[[OH AdI9[S JO ISE[[TA "INUSAY UEUD{o9q "MO[JOH AdS3[S T8 SUIpue’ | 2snoyiyal]
sqders0joyd -g xipuaddy




SIURINSUOD) 20.M0SAY [eIM[ND ‘AdVIS/ALID Basnoyy3I|

“Jue[d aAIJOWIOINY 203SLIE [[dMXE]A o) uay} pue Auedwio))

[[Uq] puey 241 1s11) SeMm 1 usygm ‘Armuad 0T A1TE3 211 01 PajEp T "ON JUB[{ JO SUOTHO4 °T "ON 1Ue[d
Aueduwio)) SIOIOJ 19[0IAY) 01 BaIE Jjeldse SS0J08 UOSpnY Jo 93pa wodj Jseayuon 3unjooT 0] 0)0qd

T ——. R i i e R .

“1samIInos 01 maiA “Aadoad a1 Jo Inos QoUEISIP LOYS B paleoo] st a8pug 207 uedde], ay], ¢ 030qJ

SHO L M3N AJUN0)) 1SS,  MO[[OH Adaa[S JO 95E[[TA "INUSAY UBUD]R2g "MO[[OH AUS?[S Te SUIPUET| asSnOyIysI

s[deJs0j00d [¢ Xipuoddy



SJUE)|NSUOD 22103y [eMnD) :HIVIS/ALID e[ asnoyYySi|
"Spasau aInIny 199w
01 papuedxa pue pajeaijdas aq pjnoa Jey) wiayed pus & uo pausisap sem jueqd oy ‘joor ayy papoddns
1By} SUWIN[OD 31 JO JUSWSTURLIE 3) Aq PaJBdIpul Sy ‘[apow a1 Surpraoxd p1oJ ynm “dozipIepue)s
ow029q pey sjue[d Fulmioeynuew ajiqowoine jo udisep 2y} AINJuad x0T A17ea op Ag -Buip[ing
I2ULI0] JO I00[J 9pBAUI 0] FUIUUIFI] ST UONBIDTIA 7 "ON JUB[J JO JOO]J WIOI] ISBAYLIOU 0} MAIA T 0304J

"JSBAIINOS 01 MAIA °YFINquaolrn) puE JUEBSEd|
JUNOA] JO SUMO ], 31 SE [[oMm SB “JOALI 9} SUO[e SINIUNWIOD [eIIAS pue mo[[oH Adeajs jo afelIA
a1} sassedwodua yoIym “LIsI o1ua9§ 15ty 207 uedde] o unyim sjjej eate 10oloid oy :1] 0joyd

SEO & MAN AJUNO0,) JaJSaUDISaf, MO[[OH AG39[S JO J0C[[17, SNUPAY UBUD|oog MO[[OH Adda[S JE SuIpue | asnoygar |

STdeIsoioyd g x%cunn_.<



SIUBINSUO)) 22N0S3Y [RIMIND :HJVIS/ALID Basnoyy3]

"10] Sunyred [sored jseo
woJy ssa008 papiaoid ey a3pliq uelsapad 0] g "ON JUB|J JO JOO|} SSOIOR JSAOMINOS SUTj0OT ] 0304
B e e e ™ T e SBm =

"soul) JuaJa)JIp 1® 1jing a1am jueld ay) Jo sured omy o Jel) 20upIA3 are ‘queld oy
Jo ued Inos oy Ul Pasn SUWN|0d Weaq-] [33)S Y} ULY] JUSISIJIP ‘SUWIN[OI PAseq 3)a10uod ay juefd oy jo
wed guou oy u 93pug 997 uedde], premo) 7 ‘oN JuB|d JO JOO]J SSOIOR ISOMULLIOU 0] MAIA €] 03104 ]

JHOA MAN "AUN0D) I9S9YDISe |, "MO[JOH Ad3Q[S JO JGE[[IA ANUIAY UBUD{23y “MO[|[OH Ad3Q|S Je SUIpueT asnoyysi

SydeIsojoq g Xipnaddy



SJUE)[NSU0)) 321n0say [eINMND :IJVIS/ALID g asnoyysi

yaed ayy w1 Aempeod aul| seal] ‘Auadord
SIOI0JA] [BI2UID) JO ISOM PUB [LIOU SI YOIym e 1ulod pue|s3ury] 0 premisom Sunjoor :97 oroyg

“JUOU 01 MAIA ILIOU 31 O] PAIBIO[31 2Q 01 JOATY 0INUBIOJ
ol pesned Amyued 07 A17e2 9y Ul Jue|d Apog J2Ysl oY) JO UONONISUC) “UOSPNH Y} PAISIUI TATY
001UBI0 A1) “PEOI[IRI 9} JO UONONISUOD 2Y) JA)JB ‘Tey) BaJe SIU) Ul Sem )] "o)s ojul ands [1ey S| 030y

IO A MIN AJUN0)) Ja1SUIlSe A\ MO[[0H AJII[S JO 90E[[TA INUIAY UBUDRag MO[[OH Aded|S JE SuIpue | SSNOSI]
SUABIS0I0Yd -g XIpuaddy




SIURINSUDD) 32dN0S3Y [edMnD) :AdVIS/ALID Nﬁmmdo..ﬁ_._m.:

‘Jsomiou
0] M31A °PBOJ[IEL 3] JO UOIIONNSUOD dY) Aq UOSPNY Ay WO JJO INO Sem J1 JaYJe Ul paj|is jey) Jajem
uado sem BaIe A[[eolI0IsIH "BAIR SuljoAda1 se pasn Fulaq AjjuaLing si jo] Suppred [eored jseq g1 ojoyg

“JSOMY[JIOU 0] MAIA
e 1uog puejssury ojur Aodoid s1o1ojy [BISUAN) A1) JO JAUIOD JSOMUMIOU ) WOl SupjooT L] 03oqd

{0 L MaN "AJUNO,) 13J50J15a /)y “MO[[OH AQII[S JO SL[[IA oNUSAY UBUDag] MO[[O] Ad3a[S T8 SUIPUE | aSNOWIYsl]

Sqdersojoyq g xipuaddy



SJURI[NSUO)) 20M0SIY [BIM[ND :HIVIS/ALID B[ asnoyy3i|

"1SBIYINOS 0] MAI A “Sunsi|
121183y [BUOIIEN 10 21B1S J0) 2]q1T1|2 10U st Fuip|ing oy |, "sdew Ainguao 61 238] Uo sreadde Suipjing
aY] ‘UJOAR] B MON "199J1§ UOSPNH PUR SNUAAY UBUNIg JO UOI02SIdUI J8 paledo] Sulpjing :0Z oleyd

"ISED 0] MaI A “UOSIdqu ‘g AQ paumo sBulp[ingino pue SuIfjamp Jo UOHEIO]
sem 11 AImuad 61 Ul "10] Sunjred e se pasn s1 Auredoid s1010]y [BIoUSN) a1y JO [2o1ed YINOS 6T 0I0YJ

TH0 L MIN ATUNO) 1915901 A\ MO[[0H AdIS[S JO OSE[IA 9NUGAY UBUD[99g] MO[[O] AQS9[S I8 SUIpUE | SSNOYaI]

sydeIs0100d g Xipuaddy



SJUEI[NSUO,) 20MOsaY [BIMN)) :HIVIS/ALLD e {2snoysI|

"JSB2 01 MIIA
2]qI31[a JaIsIFay [BUOHEN PIIPISUOI 3 P[NOM SAINIONIS AS3Y) JO duou “Aimued 61 01 Suljep ySnoyi[y
‘Auadoad SI010A [BI9USD) SUIOO[I2A0 ONUAAY IPIBYUIEg JO OPIS 1S9M U0 PaJedo] SIsNoH 17z 0104 J

"JSBIYINOS 0] MAIA SIIB[J OLOISIH JO I1SI3oY [BUONEN] 10 2]ES Y} JAPI2 0]
uonEUTWOu [qISI|2 PAISPISUOD 3q PNOM SUON “AIMUSd 6] 0 BJEp JOANS UOSPNH UO SISNOH ] 0304g

O L MAN AJUNO,) J3JSaUJISajy, MO[[O[] AQI[S JO JGE[[1, QNUIAY UEUDjog MO[[OH AdII[S T8 SUIpie | asnoqiqsr|

SUdeIsoIoyd -g xipuaddy



SIUBI[NSUO)) 90.MOSTY [RIM[N)) (HJVIS/ALID

B[ 2SNOYIY3I|

IS8 0] MAIA Bunsi] 19)s139y [eUOHBN] 10 3Je1S JOJ I[qIBI[2 PAISPISU0D 5q JOU P[NOM ]| "UOIIIPUOD
PaJRIOLIaJAP B Ul I Suipjing “yIed JUl0d pue|sSury ul pajeso] asnoy yjeq 0} RUenUY H7 0J04d

e =

NI0 A MON “AIUNOD) I91SAYISo A\, MO[[OH Ad33[S JO ISE[[IA "ONULAY UBUD{93g "MO[|OH Ada3[S T8 SUIpURT| oSnoyjysI|

sqdeIs0101 .g xipuaddy



SIUEJNSU0D) 20IN0s3Y BN :HIVIS/ALID e [asnoyy3|

"Wied jurod puejsSury ui pajedo] asnoy [Jeq Jo Jeal WO dU0ISAY JO [IeIa(] 197 030y

S s

"JSOMUINOS 0] MATA “ied Juiod puejsSury ul 2snoy yieq Jo Jeay :S7 0oy g

SHO A MaN AJUTI0,) 1975300153y MO[[O[] AJ39[S JO I0E[[IA oNUaAY UBUD|3og MO[JOH] Adad[S J& Sulpue | asnoqigar]

SUdEIs0j0t g XIpuaddy



SIUBINSUO.) 90INO0SIY [RINYN) :HIVIS/ALID B osnoyIysi|

"JSBIYINOS 0] MAIA 'IdATY UOSPNH uo yoeaq 0} yred Joao afpuq
wouj uaye] 0J0yd "jed Julod pue[s3ury ur pajedo] asnoy yieq Jo U0 JO [2A3] JoMO[ JB MIIA 187 0304

e e e e = |

JHO A MON AJUNO_) 1315000J5ay) MO[[O[] AJ33[S JO JSE[[IA oNUSAY UBUD2ag] MO[[O[] AJ29[S I8 SUIpUe | asnoIsT]

SdeIs030y ] g Xipuaddy



sjuR)Nsu0) 2a.mosay [eImm)) :HJVIS/ALID e asnoyysi|

"JSOM 0} MIIA
“Jed ui0d puejsSury ul asnoy yjeq Jo jSam JAR uospny uo yoeaq 0] Surpes] uoide Jo MalA (€ 030gg

“JSOMIINOS 0] MAIA YIed Juiod puejsSury ul asnoy yjeq je yaeaq oj ssediopun) :67 0304g

IO & M3 ATN0,) 115910158\ MO[[O[] AdIa[S JO 35E|[IA ONUAAY UBUINaag] MO[[0]] Ad93[S 1€ Sulpue | asnofqiyar]

Sdersolol g Xipuaddy





